ฤทธิ์ต้านมะเร็งของเซฟราแรนทีนต่อเซลล์มะเร็งรังไข่ของมนุษย์



บทคัดย่อและแฟ้มข้อมูลฉบับเต็มของวิทยานิพนธ์ตั้งแต่ปีการศึกษา 2554 ที่ให้บริการในคลังปัญญาจุฬาฯ (CUIR) เป็นแฟ้มข้อมูลของนิสิตเจ้าของวิทยานิพนธ์ ที่ส่งผ่านทางบัณฑิตวิทยาลัย

The abstract and full text of theses from the academic year 2011 in Chulalongkorn University Intellectual Repository (CUIR) are the thesis authors' files submitted through the University Graduate School.

วิทยานิพนธ์นี้เป็นส่วนหนึ่งของการศึกษาตามหลักสูตรปริญญาวิทยาศาสตรมหาบัณฑิต สาขาวิชาเภสัชวิทยา (สหสาขาวิชา) บัณฑิตวิทยาลัย จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย ปีการศึกษา 2559 ลิขสิทธิ์ของจุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

ANTICANCER EFFECTS OF CEPHARANTHINE ON HUMAN OVARIAN CANCER CELLS



A Thesis Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Master of Science Program in Pharmacology (Interdisciplinary Program) Graduate School Chulalongkorn University Academic Year 2016 Copyright of Chulalongkorn University

Thesis Title	ANTICANCER EFFECTS OF CEPHARANTHINE ON
	HUMAN OVARIAN CANCER CELLS
Ву	Miss Vilawan Payon
Field of Study	Pharmacology
Thesis Advisor	Piyanuch Wonganan, Ph.D.
Thesis Co-Advisor	Wannarasmi Ketchart, M.D., Ph.D

Accepted by the Graduate School, Chulalongkorn University in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Master's Degree

_____Dean of the Graduate School

(Associate Professor Sunait Chutintaranond, Ph.D.)

THESIS COMMITTEE

_____Chairman

(Assistant Professor Naowarat Suthamnatpong, D.V.M., Ph.D.)

(Piyanuch Wonganan, Ph.D.)

_____Thesis Co-Advisor

(Wannarasmi Ketchart, M.D., Ph.D)

Examiner

(Assistant Professor Sireerat Sooampon, D.D.S., Ph.D.)

External Examiner

(Assistant Professor Pathama Leewanich, Ph.D.)

วิลาวรรณ พยนต์ : ฤทธิ์ต้านมะเร็งของเซฟราแรนทีนต่อเซลล์มะเร็งรังไข่ของมนุษย์ (ANTICANCER EFFECTS OF CEPHARANTHINE ON HUMAN OVARIAN CANCER CELLS) อ.ที่ปรึกษาวิทยานิพนธ์หลัก: ดร. ปิยนุช วงศ์อนันต์, อ.ที่ปรึกษาวิทยานิพนธ์ร่วม: พญ. ดร. วรรณรัศมี เกตุชาติ, 81 หน้า.

Cepharanthine (CEP) เป็นสารที่มีฤทธิ์ทางยาซึ่งพบได้ในรากของต้น Stephania cepharantha Hayata มีฤทธิ์ต้านมะเร็งหลายชนิด เช่น มะเร็งเม็ดเลือดขาว, มะเร็งท่อน้ำดี, มะเร็ง ปอด และมะเร็งตับ แต่อย่างไรก็ตามยังไม่มีการรายงานถึงฤทธิ์ต้านมะเร็งรังไข่ของ CEP ดังนั้นในการ วิจัยครั้งนี้มีวัตถุประสงค์เพื่อศึกษาฤทธิ์ต้านมะเร็งของ CEP รวมไปถึงกลไกการออกฤทธิ์ต่อ เซลล์มะเร็งรังไข่ของมนุษย์ 2 ชนิดคือ เซลล์ CaOV-3 ซึ่งเป็นเซลล์ที่ตอบสนองต่อยาเคมีบำบัด และ เซลล์ OVCAR-3 เป็นเซลล์ที่ดื้อต่อยาเคมีบำบัด cisplatin และ adriamycin ในการศึกษาครั้งนี้แสดง ให้เห็นว่า CEP ยับยั้งการเจริญเติบโตของเซลล์มะเร็งรังไข่ทั้งเซลล์ CaOV-3 และเซลล์ OVCAR-3 ซึ่ง แปรผันตามความเข้มข้นที่ใช้ในการทดสอบ โดยพบว่า CEP มีความเป็นพิษต่อเซลล์ CaOV-3 (IC₅₀ = 10.93±0.14 ไมโครโมลาร์) มากกว่าเซลล์ OVCAR-3 (IC₅₀ = 31.20±1.27 ไมโครโมลาร์) นอกจากนี้ CEP สามารถยับยั้งการเจริญเติบโตของเซลล์ CaOV-3 ผ่านทางการชักนำให้วัฏจักรเซลล์หยุดที่ระยะ G1 ในขณะที่ CEP ไม่มีผลต่อการเปลี่ยนแปลงในวัฏจักรเซลล์ของเซลล์ OVCAR-3 และเมื่อ ทำการศึกษาในระดับ mRNA พบว่า CEP เพิ่มระดับของ p21 อย่างชัดเจนทั้งในเซลล์ CaOV-3 และ เซลล์ OVCAR-3 อีกทั้ง CEP ยังสามารถลดระดับ mRNA ของ cyclin A ในเซลล์ CaOV-3 และลด ปริมาณ mRNA ของ cyclin A และ cyclin E และเพิ่ม mRNA ของ cyclin D ในเซลล์ OVCAR-3 เมื่อศึกษาผลของ CEP ต่อการตายแบบอะพอพโทซิสและกลไกการออกฤทธิ์ต่อเซลล์มะเร็งรังไข่ของ มนุษย์พบว่า CEP สามารถชักนำให้เซลล์ CaOV-3 ตายแบบอะพอพโทซิสและลดระดับ mRNA ของ Bcl-xl และเพิ่มปริมาณ mRNA ของ Bax และ Bak และเช่นเดียวกัน CEP ชักนำให้เซลล์ OVCAR-3 เกิดการตายแบบอะพอพโทซิส และเพิ่มระดับ mRNA ของ Bak ดังนั้นจากผลการศึกษาครั้งนี้แสดงให้ เห็นความเป็นไปได้ในการนำ CFP มาใช้ในการรักษาโรคมะเร็งรังไข่

สาขาวิชา เภสัชวิทยา ปีการศึกษา 2559

ลายมือชื่อนิสิต	
ลายมือชื่อ อ.ที่ปรึกษาหลัก	
ลายมือชื่อ อ.ที่ปรึกษาร่วม	

5787279220 : MAJOR PHARMACOLOGY

KEYWORDS: CEPHARANTHINE, OVARIAN CANCER, APOPTOSIS, CELL CYCLE ARREST, CYTOTOXICITY

VILAWAN PAYON: ANTICANCER EFFECTS OF CEPHARANTHINE ON HUMAN OVARIAN CANCER CELLS. ADVISOR: PIYANUCH WONGANAN, Ph.D., CO-ADVISOR: WANNARASMI KETCHART, M.D., Ph.D, 81 pp.

Cepharanthine (CEP) is a medicinal product derived from Stephania cepharantha Hayata, which possesses potent anticancer activities against several types of cancers such as leukemia, cholangiocarcinoma, non-small-cell lung cancer and hepatocarcinoma. However, its anticancer activity against ovarian cancer cells has never been reported. In this study, the anticancer effect of CEP and mechanisms underlying the anticancer effect of CEP were investigated in two human ovarian cancer cell lines, CaOV-3 (chemosensitive) and OVCAR-3 (chemoresistance), which has been reported to be resistant to clinically relevant concentrations of cisplatin and adriamycin. The present study demonstrated that CEP significantly inhibited the growth of CaOV-3 and OVCAR-3 cells in a concentration-dependent manner. Interestingly, CEP was more toxic to CaOV-3 cells (IC₅₀ = 10.93 \pm 0.14 μ M) than OVCAR-3 cells (IC₅₀ = 31.20±1.27 µM). Additionally, CEP could induce cell cycle arrest at G1 phase in CaOV-3 cells but did not alter cell cycle distribution in OVCAR-3 cells. Mechanistic studies demonstrated that CEP markedly increased mRNA level of p21, a cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor, in both ovarian cancer cell lines. CEP also decreased mRNA level of cyclin A in CaOV-3 as well as decreased the expression of cyclin A and E genes while increased cyclin D gene expression in OVCAR-3 cells. Moreover, CEP was found to trigger apoptosis, increase Bcl-xl mRNA and decrease Bax and Bak mRNA in CaOV-3 cells. Similarly, CEP induced cancer cells to undergo apoptosis and increased Bak mRNA level in OVCAR-3 cells. Therefore, the results from this study suggest that CEP could potentially be used as a novel anticancer drug for ovarian cancer treatment.

Field of Study:	Pharmacology	Student's Signature
Academic Year:	2016	Advisor's Signature
	2010	
		Co-Advisor's Signature

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This thesis has meant a great deal to me. I am so proud in completing it. So, I wish to give thanks to many special people for their support and assistance in everything.

First, I would greatly thankful to my thesis advisor, Dr. Piyanuch Wonganan and my thesis co-advisor, Dr. Wannarasmi Ketchart, Department of Pharmacology, Faculty of Medicine, for providing me this opportunity and believing in my ability to complete this research work. I have often received great advice, attention, motivation and inspiration throughout my study. Thank you for being patience and many words of encouragement during my tough times. So, I am grateful to them.

I would like to acknowledge Mr. Noppadol Sa-ard-lam, Department of Immunology Laboratory, Faculty of Dentistry at Chulalongkorn University for technical assistance on flow cytometry.

This research has been financially supported by the Chulalongkorn University Graduate School Thesis Grant and Special Task Force for Activating Research (STAR), Ratchadaphiseksomphot Endowment Fund of Chulalongkorn University to Overcoming Cancer Drug Resistance Research Group (GSTAR 59-005-30-001).

Thanks to all Ph.D. and master's students in the cell culture laboratory at the Department of Pharmacology, Faculty of Medicine for their friendship, encouragement and enjoyment. I am glad and happy to be with them.

Finally, I wish to thank the most important people in my life, my father, my mother and my grandmother. They motivated me to engage to this master study. I love them because of their endless love and never-ending support throughout my life. Especially, they sacrificed everything for me to give me the best chance to succeed. Therefore, I can just say thank you for everything.

CONTENTS

Page
THAI ABSTRACTiv
ENGLISH ABSTRACTv
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTSvi
CONTENTS
LIST OF TABLESx
LIST OF FIGURESxi
LIST OF ABBREVAITIONS
CHAPTER I INTRODUCTION
1.1 Background and rationale1
1.2 Objectives
1.3 Hypothesis
1.4 Conceptual framework
CHAPTER II LITERATURE REVIEWS
2.1 Ovarian cancer
2.1.1 Staging of ovarian cancer
2.1.2 Treatment of ovarian cancer
2.1.2.1 Platinum coordination complexes9
2.1.2.2 Anthracycline antibiotics
2.2 The cell cycle
2.3 Apoptosis
2.4 Cepharanthine
2.4.1 Antitumor activity

Page

viii

2.4.2 Clinical toxicity	20
CHAPTER III MATERIALS AND METHODS	21
3.1 Reagents	21
3.2 Materials and equipments	22
3.2.1 Materials	22
3.2.2 Equipments	22
3.3 Methods	23
3.3.1 Preparation of chemotherapeutic agents and cepharanthine	23
3.3.2 Cell lines and cell culture	23
3.3.3 Cell viability assay	24
3.3.4 Analysis of cell cycle progression	25
3.3.5 Assessment of apoptosis using annexin V/PI staining	26
3.3.6 Measurement of gene expression by real-time RT PCR analysis	28
3.3.7 Statistical analysis	29
CHAPTER IV RESULTS	30
4.1. Effect of chemotherapeutic agents and cepharanthine on cell viability of	
CaOV-3, a chemosensitive human ovarian cancer cell line	30
4.2. Effect of chemotherapeutic agents and cepharanthine on cell viability of	
OVCAR-3, a chemoresistant human ovarian cancer cells	33
4.3. Effect of cepharanthine on cell cycle distribution in CaOV-3 cells	37
4.4. Effect of cepharanthine on cell cycle distribution in OVCAR-3 cells	39
4.5. Effect of cepharanthine on the mRNA levels of cell cycle regulators in	
CaOV-3 cells	41

Page

4.6. Effect of cepharanthine on the mRNA levels of cell cycle regulators in	
OVCAR-3 cells	43
4.7. Effect of cepharanthine on apoptosis induction in CaOV-3 cells	45
4.8. Effect of cepharanthine on apoptosis induction in OVCAR-3 cells	47
4.9. Effect of cepharanthine on the mRNA levels of Bcl-2 family members in CaOV-3 cells	49
4.10. Effect of cepharanthine on the mRNA levels of Bcl-2 family members in OVCAR-3 cells.	51
CHAPTER V DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION	53
REFERENCES	61
APPENDIX A RESULTS	73
APPENDIX B PREPARATION OF REAGENTS	78
VITA	81

จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1 Sequences of primers used for real-time RT PCR	. 29
Table 2 IC ₅₀ values of chemotherapeutic agents and cepharanthine on a	
chemosensitive human ovarian cancer cell line, CaOV-3	. 33
Table 3 IC ₅₀ values of chemotherapeutic agents and cepharanthine on a	
chemoresistant human ovarian cancer cell line, OVCAR-3.	37



จุฬาลงกรณมหาวทยาลย Chulalongkorn University

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1 Types of ovarian cancer
Figure 2 Mechanism of action of cisplatin
Figure 3 Cell cycle regulation
Figure 4 Apoptosis pathway
Figure 5 (A) Chemical structure of cepharanthine and (B) Stephania venosa
(Blume) Spreng
Figure 6 The cytograms of cell cycle pattern
Figure 7 The cytograms of apoptotic/necrotic cell
Figure 8 The effect of chemotherapeutic agents and cepharanthine on cell
viability of a chemosensitive ovarian cancer cell line, CaOV-3
Figure 9 The effect of chemotherapeutic agents and cepharanthine on cell
viability of a chemoresistant ovarian cancer cell line, OVCAR-3
Figure 10 The effect of cepharanthine on cell cycle distribution of CaOV-3 cells 38
Figure 11 The effect of cepharanthine on cell cycle distribution of OVCAR-3 cells 40
Figure 12 The effect of cepharanthine on the mRNA levels of cell cycle
regulators in CaOV-3 cells
Figure 13 The effect of cepharanthine on the mRNA levels of cell cycle
regulators in a OVCAR-3 cells
Figure 14 The effect of cepharanthine on apoptotic cell death in CaOV-3 cells 46
Figure 15 The effect of cepharanthine on apoptotic cell death in OVCAR-3 cells 48
Figure 16 The effect of cepharanthine on the mRNA levels of Bcl-2 family
members in CaOV-3 cells
Figure 17 The effect of cepharanthine on the mRNA levels of Bcl-2 family
members in OVCAR-3 cells

LIST OF ABBREVAITIONS

AML	Acute myelogenous leukemia
ANOVA	Analysis of variance
Apaf-1	Apoptotic protease-activating factor-1
ATCC	American Type Culture Collection
ATP7A	ATPase copper transporting alpha
ATP7B	ATPase copper transporting beta
Bad	BCL-2 antagonist of cell death
Bak	BCL-2 antagonist/killer-1
Bax	BCL-2 associated X protein
Bcl-xl	B-cell lymphoma-extra large
Bcl-2	B-cell lymphoma-2
Bid	BH3-interacting domain death agonist
Bim	BCL-2-like-11
Caspase	Cysteine aspartic acid specific protease
CDK	Cyclin-dependent kinase
cDNA	Complementary DNA
CEP	Cepharanthine
CHCl ₃	Chloroform
CIP/KIP	CDK interacting protein/Kinase inhibitory protein
c-JNK	c-Jun N-terminal protein kinases
СКІ	Cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor
CO ₂	Carbon dioxide
СТ	Cycle threshold
DISC	Death-inducing signaling complex
DMEM	Dulbeco's Modified Eagle Medium

DMSO	Dimethyl sulfoxide
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
DTX	Docetaxel
EDTA	Ethylene diamine tetraacetic acid
ERK	Extracellular signal-regulated kinase
E2F	E2 factor
FADD	Fas-associated death domain
Fas	Fibroblast associated antigen
FBS	Fetal bovine serum
FDA	Food and Drug Administration
FIGO	International Federation of Gynecology and Obstetrics
FITC	Fluorescein isothiocyanate
GAPDH	Glyceraldehydes-3-phosphate dehydrogenase
h	Hour
h HCl	Hour Hydrochloric acid
h HCl HEPES	Hour Hydrochloric acid 4-(2-hydroxyethyl-1-piperazineethanesulfonic acid)
h HCl HEPES IARC	Hour Hydrochloric acid 4-(2-hydroxyethyl-1-piperazineethanesulfonic acid) International Agency for Research on Cancer
h HCl HEPES IARC IC ₅₀	Hour Hydrochloric acid 4-(2-hydroxyethyl-1-piperazineethanesulfonic acid) International Agency for Research on Cancer Half inhibitory concentration
h HCl HEPES IARC IC ₅₀ INK4	Hour Hydrochloric acid 4-(2-hydroxyethyl-1-piperazineethanesulfonic acid) International Agency for Research on Cancer Half inhibitory concentration Inhibitor of CDK4
h HCl HEPES IARC IC ₅₀ INK4 LSD	Hour Hydrochloric acid 4-(2-hydroxyethyl-1-piperazineethanesulfonic acid) International Agency for Research on Cancer Half inhibitory concentration Inhibitor of CDK4 Least Square Difference
h HCl HEPES IARC IC ₅₀ INК4 LSD MAPК	Hour Hydrochloric acid 4-(2-hydroxyethyl-1-piperazineethanesulfonic acid) International Agency for Research on Cancer Half inhibitory concentration Inhibitor of CDK4 Least Square Difference Mitogen-activated protein kinase
h HCl HEPES IARC IC50 INК4 LSD MAPК MDR1	HourHydrochloric acid4-(2-hydroxyethyl-1-piperazineethanesulfonic acid)International Agency for Research on CancerHalf inhibitory concentrationInhibitor of CDK4Least Square DifferenceMitogen-activated protein kinaseMultidrug resistance protein 1
h HCl HEPES IARC IC50 INК4 LSD MAPК MDR1 mg/ml	HourHydrochloric acid4-(2-hydroxyethyl-1-piperazineethanesulfonic acid)International Agency for Research on CancerHalf inhibitory concentrationInhibitor of CDK4Least Square DifferenceMitogen-activated protein kinaseMultidrug resistance protein 1Miligram per milliliter
h HCl HEPES IARC IC₅о INK4 LSD MAPK MDR1 mg/ml MMR	Hour Hydrochloric acid 4-(2-hydroxyethyl-1-piperazineethanesulfonic acid) International Agency for Research on Cancer Half inhibitory concentration Inhibitor of CDK4 Least Square Difference Mitogen-activated protein kinase Multidrug resistance protein 1 Milligram per milliliter DNA mismatch repair
h HCl HEPES IARC IC50 INK4 LSD MAPK MDR1 mg/ml MMR MMR	Hour Hydrochloric acid 4-(2-hydroxyethyl-1-piperazineethanesulfonic acid) International Agency for Research on Cancer Half inhibitory concentration Half inhibitory concentration Inhibitor of CDK4 Least Square Difference Mitogen-activated protein kinase Multidrug resistance protein 1 Milligram per milliliter DNA mismatch repair Messenger RNA

MTT	3-(4, 5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2, 5-diphenyltetrazolium
	bromide
NaHCO ₃	Sodium bicarbonate
NaOH	Sodium hydroxide
NCI	National Cancer Institute
NF	Nuclease free water
NF- K B	Nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhance of activated B
NICE	National Institute for Clinical Excellence
nm	Nanometer
PARP	Poly (ADP-ribose) polymerase
PBS	Phosphate buffer saline
PI	Propidium iodide
PIK3CA	Phosphatidylinositol-4,5-bisphosphate 3-kinase catalytic
	subunit alpha
PI3K	Phosphatidylinositol-3-kinase
РКВ	Protein kinase B (or AKT)
PS	Phosphatidylserine
PTEN	Phosphatase and tensin homolog
PUMA	p53 upregulated modulator of apoptosis
p53	Tumor suppressor protein 53
RB	Retinoblastoma protein
RNA	Ribonucleic acid
RNase A	Ribonuclease A
RPMI	Roswell Park Memorial Institute
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
rpm	Round per minutes
RT-PCR	Reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction

SEM	Standard error of mean
STAT3	Signal transducer and activator of transcription 3
tBid	Truncated Bid
TNF- α	Tumor necrosis factor alpha
TRAIL	TNF-related apoptosis including ligand
µg/ml	Microgram per milliliter
μι	Microliter

µM Micromolar



จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

CHAPTER I

1.1 Background and rationale

Ovarian cancer is the seventh most common cancer and the leading cause of cancer death in women worldwide ⁽¹⁾. Most patients are diagnosed with advanced stage disease (stage III and IV) because the early-stage malignancy is generally asymptomatic and very difficult to diagnose. Thus, the 5-year survival rate for these patients is less than 40% ⁽²⁾. The current standard treatment for ovarian cancer patients includes cytoreductive surgery, radiotherapy, systemic chemotherapy and targeted therapy. Usually, first-line therapies for ovarian cancer are cytoreductive surgery followed by six cycle of intravenous chemotherapeutic agents ⁽³⁾. The conventional cytotoxic drugs are platinum coordination complexes, including cisplatin, carboplatin and oxaliplatin as well as taxane, including paclitaxel and docetaxel. The cytotoxic drugs are generally used in combination rather than single compound ⁽⁴⁾. In addition to platinum-based drugs and taxane, doxorubicin is approved by the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) of United States for the treatment of metastatic ovarian cancer in patients with disease refractory to both platinum-based and taxane chemotherapy. Similarly, National Institute for Clinical Excellence (NICE) reported in 2002 that, in the United Kingdom, doxorubicin is a drug of choice for many patients with advanced ovarian cancer after failure of first-line therapy ⁽⁵⁾. Although complete clinical response in patients with ovarian cancer can be achieved in clinic but the mortality remains high due to acquired drug resistance. Besides chemoresistance, highly toxic side effects of chemotherapeutic agents have also limited their uses in cancer patients ⁽⁶⁻⁹⁾. Therefore, it is

necessary to find novel compounds that have efficient anticancer activity with minimal side effects for ovarian cancer treatment.

Cepharanthine (CEP) is a biscoclaurine alkaloid isolated from Stephania cepharantha Hayata ⁽¹⁰⁾. Currently, cepharanthine is approved by the Japanese Ministry of Health for treatment of many acute and chronic diseases such as radiation-induced leukopenia, alopecia areata and alopecia pityrodes ⁽¹¹⁾. Although it has been widely used, serious side effects of cepharanthine have never been reported (11, 12). Previous studies have reported various pharmacological effects of cepharanthine such as antimalarial ⁽¹³⁾, antioxidant ^(10, 14), anti-allergic ⁽¹⁵⁾, anti-inflammatory ^(16, 17), and anticancer ⁽¹¹⁾. Cepharanthine has been found to exert cytotoxicity against several types of cancers such as leukemia, cholangiocarcinoma and hepatocarcinoma⁽¹⁸⁻²¹⁾. Apoptosis-inducing effects of cepharanthine was reported to be mediated through reducing Bcl-2 expression ⁽²²⁾, inducing Bax expression ^(23, 24) and triggering several signaling pathways such as STAT ⁽²⁵⁾ and NF- κ B⁽²⁶⁾. Similarly, this alkaloid could induce cell cycle arrest at G1 phase by altering cell cycle regulators such as p21^{WAF1 (27)}, p27^{Kip1}, and cyclin E⁽²⁸⁾. Moreover, cepharanthine has demonstrated to potentiate the anticancer activity of numerous chemotherapeutic agents, including doxorubicin, vincristine and adriamycin by inducing p53-deficient cells and Pglycoprotein (P-gp) overexpressing cells to undergo apoptosis following treatment ^(29, 30).

Recently, Rattanawong et al. (2015) reported that cepharanthine could efficiently inhibit the proliferation of p53-mutant HT-29 colorectal cancer cells which are resistant to chemotherapeutic drugs, suggesting that cepharanthine may be a novel agent for treatment of cancer patients who are not respond to commonly used chemotherapeutic drugs. In addition, the anticancer effects of cepharanthine on human ovarian cancer cells have never been investigated. Therefore, in the present study, the anticancer activity of cepharanthine and its underlying mechanism(s) were determined in both chemosensitive (CaOV-3) and chemoresistant (OVCAR-3) human ovarian cancer cell lines.

1.2 Objectives

1. To investigate the anticancer effects of cepharanthine in chemosensitive (CaOV-3) and chemoresistant (OVCAR-3) human ovarian cancer cells.

2. To examine the mechanism(s) responsible for the anticancer effects of cepharanthine on both human ovarian cancer cell lines.

1.3 Hypothesis

Cepharanthine has effective anticancer activity against both chemosensitive and chemoresistant ovarian cancer cells.

Chulalongkorn University

1.4 Conceptual framework



CHAPTER II LITERATURE REVIEWS

2.1 Ovarian cancer

Ovarian cancer is one of the most common gynecologic cancers and the leading cause of cancer-related death in women worldwide. More than 70% of patients are present with advanced stage disease (stage III-IV) because the early-stage is generally asymptomatic and very difficult to diagnose. Thus, the 5-year survival rate for these patients is less than 40% ⁽²⁾. According to estimates from the International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC): Globocan, in 2012, ovarian carcinoma was the seventh most common cancers among women in the world and there were 238,700 new ovarian cancer cases and 151,900 ovarian cancer deaths. The incidence of ovarian cancer was found to be the highest in Europe and Northern America. In the United State, American Cancer Society has reported that ovarian cancer is the fifth leading cause of deaths in US women which is estimated that about 22,280 women develop ovarian cancer and there are approximately 14,240 ovarian cancer deaths in 2016. The incidences in American women are slightly increased from 2015 around 5%, while the mortality rates remain approximately the same which have been about 14,000 cases since 2013 to 2016. In Asia, the International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC) reported that there were estimated 111,887 new cases of ovarian cancer and 66,215 deaths, which Thailand is presented in the seventh of ovarian cancer incidence and deaths among Asia women in 2012. According to National Cancer Institute (NCI) demonstrated in 2013, there were estimated about 73 new cases or 3.10% of gynecological cancer occurred in Thai women.

Ovarian cancer is a term of cancer that begins in the ovary, a reproductive gland found only in females. The ovaries produce eggs for reproduction and also the main source of the female hormones, including estrogen and progesterone. The ovaries consist of three main types of cells, which each type can develop into different types of tumor, including epithelial tumors, stromal tumors and germ cell tumors (Figure 1)⁽³¹⁾.

(i).*epithelial tumors* develop from the cells that cover the outer surface of the ovary.

(ii). *stromal tumors* develop from structural tissue cells that hold the ovary together and produce the female hormones, estrogen and progesterone.

(iii). *germ cell tumors* develop from the cells that produce the eggs.



Figure 1 Types of ovarian cancer

More than 90% of ovarian cancers are epithelial tumors, which develop on the surface layer of the ovary ⁽³²⁾. There are various subtypes of epithelial ovarian cancer but the most common are high-grade serous cancer subtypes ⁽³³⁾. High-grade serous ovarian cancers frequently contain p53 mutation ^(34, 35). In addition to p53 mutation, aging (more than 50 years old), obesity, hormone replacement and family history of ovarian cancer are highly associated with ovarian cancer ⁽³⁶⁾.

Genetic mutations have widely been identified in ovarian cancer patients. Mutation and loss of tumor protein 53 (TP53 or p53) function is the most common genetic abnormalities (approximately 96%) in ovarian cancer ^(37, 38). Several studies reported that ovarian cancer cells with abundant p53 mutation are associated with poor prognosis of patients ⁽³⁹⁾. In addition, mutation of p53 has been involved with resistance to platinum-based therapy for ovarian cancer treatment ^(37, 39, 40). Previous studies revealed that the mutation of p53 gene causes the development of cisplatin-resistance in ovarian cancer cells such as OVCAR-3^(41, 42). Besides p53, mutation and amplification of oncogene in the PI3K/AKT family were detected in more than 40% of patients with epithelial ovarian cancer. It was reported that there are correlation between mutations of PI3KCA and AKT and progression of ovarian cancer ⁽³⁸⁾. Several studies have found increase in copy number of PIK3CA in ovarian cancers, leading to higher PI3K activity ⁽⁴³⁻⁴⁵⁾. Over-activation of AKT was also found to be related to ovarian cancer progression (45, 46). Furthermore, activation of the PI3K signaling pathway through mutation of PIK3CA or AKT has been found to be involved in chemoresistance of ovarian cancer cells (35, 47, 48).

2.1.1 Staging of ovarian cancer

Cancer staging, classified based on the severity of disease, is used to plan treatment and predict the clinical outcome. According to the International Federation of Gynecology and Obstetrics (FIGO), the stage of ovarian cancer can be classified into four stages as follows: ⁽³³⁾

Stage I: Tumor is confined to one or both ovaries and has not yet spread to other areas. At this stage, up to 90% of patients can be cured using currently available therapy.

Stage II: Tumor can be found outside of one or both ovaries but has spread into the pelvic region (uterus, bladder, lower intestine).

Stage III: Tumor involves one or both ovaries and has spread beyond the pelvis into the abdominal cavity (but not the liver) and/or metastasis to near lymph nodes.

Stage IV: Tumor has spread to other parts of the body such as the liver, lung and brain. At this stage, the cure rate and survival rate decrease substantially.

2.1.2 Treatment of ovarian cancer

The current standard treatments for ovarian cancer patients include cytoreductive surgery, radiotherapy, systemic chemotherapy and targeted therapy depending on the stage of the disease. Surgery is the main option for early-stage disease. However, the majority of ovarian cancer patients are diagnosed in advanced-stage disease. Thus, these patients are usually treated by a combination of cytoreductive surgery and standard chemotherapy ⁽³¹⁾.

The standard chemotherapeutic agents for ovarian cancer are platinum coordination complexes, including cisplatin, carboplatin, and oxaliplatin as well as taxane, including paclitaxel, and docetaxel, which are generally used in combination rather than single compound ⁽⁴⁹⁾. Although, the platinum-based chemotherapy has had a major impact for clinical treatment of ovarian cancers ⁽⁵⁰⁾, more than 70% of patients with advanced ovarian cancer will experience disease recurrence within 6 months after primary chemotherapy. Thus, the second-line chemotherapy, such as doxorubicin, becomes candidate for treatment with relapsed ovarian cancer ^(31, 51, 52).

2.1.2.1 Platinum coordination complexes

The platinum coordination complexes have board anticancer activity against several types of cancer such as head and neck, bladder, lung, colon and ovarian. The members of platinum compounds consist of cisplatin, carboplatin and oxaliplatin ⁽⁵³⁾. It has been shown that the combination between cisplatin or carboplatin with paclitaxel induces complete response in the majority of patients with ovarian cancer ^(50, 53). In addition, oxaliplatin, a third-generation platinum derivative, has been used mainly in recurrent ovarian cancer as a single or in combination with other platinum and non-platinum compounds. Some studies reported that oxaliplatin/ cisplatin combination treatment has also shown higher activity comparable to high-dose of cisplatin or high-dose of carboplatin in patients with recurrent ovarian cancer ^(54, 55).

Mechanism of action

Once inside the cell, the platinum compound reacts with N-7 of guanine site on DNA, which results in intra-strand and inter-strand DNA crosslinks, and DNA single- or double- strand breaks, inhibiting transcription and DNA replication (Figure 2) $^{(49, 56)}$.



Figure 2 Mechanism of action of cisplatin⁽⁵³⁾

Clinical toxicity

Similar to other chemotherapeutic agents, common side effects of the platinum drugs are bone marrow suppression, nausea and vomiting. Moreover, specific side effects of platinum-based antineoplastic drugs have also been reported. Of all the platinum compounds, nephrotoxicity and ototoxicity have been often found in cisplatin treatment ⁽⁵⁷⁾. Additionally, the treatment of cisplatin at high or multiple doses causes neurotoxicity by approximately 50% of patients receiving cisplatin ^(58, 59). It was also reported that cisplatin could induce anaphylactic-like reaction ⁽⁵⁶⁾. Moreover, cisplatin has been associated with the development of acute myelogenous leukemia (AML) after treatment approximately over 4 years ⁽⁵⁹⁾. Compared to cisplatin, carboplatin, a second generation of anticancer drug, is relatively well

tolerated. It causes less nausea, nephrotoxicity, ototoxicity, and neurotoxicity than cisplatin ^(60, 58). However, studies have shown that approximately 4-6% of patients who receive carboplatin develop peripheral neuropathy ^(59, 60). In contrast to carboplatin, oxaliplatin, the third generation platinum analog, produces significant neurological dysfunction. Peripheral neuropathy is the most common dose-limiting toxicity of oxaliplatin ⁽⁶⁾. Oxaliplatin also induces acute allergic response with urticaria and bronchoconstriction. Furthermore, pulmonary fibrosis has been detected within months to years after treatment with oxaliplatin. This drug, however, reduces renal toxicity as compared to the cisplatin. Additionally, oxaliplatin- associated ototoxicity is very uncommon ^(55, 59).

2.1.2.2 Anthracycline antibiotics

Anthracycline drugs are derived from the fungus *Streptomyces peucetius var. caesius*. Doxorubicin is one of the members of anthracycline drugs, which display board activity against human solid tumors such as breast cancer, lung cancer, gastric cancer, thyroid cancer, non-Hodgkin's & Hodgkin's lymphoma, multiple myeloma, sarcoma and also ovarian cancer ⁽⁶¹⁾. Doxorubicin has commonly been used as the first-choice non-platinum agent for recurrent ovarian cancers. It was reported that this drug is effective and well tolerated in patients with relapsed ovarian cancer ⁽⁵⁾. A phase II clinical trial demonstrated that the response rates were 17-20% and a median progression-free survival was approximately 5-6 months in the recurrent ovarian cancer patients receiving doxorubicin ^(62, 63).

Mechanism of action

There are three proposed mechanisms by which doxorubicin act in the cancer cell ^(64, 65).

(i). The drug can intercalate with DNA, directly affecting transcription and replication.

(ii). The drug can form a complex with topoisomerase II and DNA. Topoisomerase II is an ATP-dependent enzyme that binds to DNA and produces double-strand break and then re-ligates the DNA strands for replication processing. Binding of the topoisomerase/DNA complex with anthracyclines inhibits the re-ligation of the broken DNA strands, leading to DNA damage and induce apoptosis.

(iii). The drug generates free radicals, which can form semiquinone radical intermediates that can react with oxygen to produce superoxide anion radicals. The production of free radicals can lead to lipid peroxidation and DNA and membrane damage, triggering apoptotic cell death.

Clinical toxicity

The major limitation for the use of doxorubicin is cardiotoxicity. Several studies demonstrated that doxorubicin-induced cardiomyopathy is the most important long-term toxicity and may proceed to clinical congestive heart failure many months, or longer after the completion of treatment ⁽⁶⁴⁾. In addition, the generally toxicities of the drug are myelosuppression, thrombocytopenia, anemia and leukopenia. Previous study found that the high dose anthracyclines (doxorubicin $\geq 120 \text{ mg/m}^2$) cause severe neutropenia. Furthermore, mucositis, diarrhea and alopecia have been found to be common side effects of doxorubicin, but these symptoms are reversible ⁽⁶¹⁾.

2.2 The cell cycle

The cell cycle, a cycle of cell duplication and division, can be divided into four successive phases: G1 (gap 1), S (DNA synthesis), G2 (gap 2) and M (mitosis). During G1 phase, the cell grows and synthesizes mRNA and proteins, which are required for DNA replication during the S phase. Once DNA synthesis is completed, the cell enters the next phase, G2 phase. During this phase, the cells check the completion of DNA replication and the integrity of genome before cell division starts. The M phase is composed of mitosis and cytokinesis, resulting in two identical daughter cells. However, when the cell ceases proliferate due to the absence of proper mitogenic signaling, the cell can exit the cell cycle and enter a resting state known as G0 (G zero)⁽⁶⁶⁾.

The cell cycle progression is tightly controlled by two protein families, cyclin-dependent kinase (CDKs) and the cyclins (Figure 3). CDKs are a family of serine/ threonine kinase, including CDK4, CDK6, CDK2 and CDK1. The activities of these kinases are activated via forming a complex with specific cyclins, such as cyclin D, E, A and B ⁽⁶⁷⁾. The cyclin-CDK complexes specifically regulate each phase of cell cycle. During late G1 phase, cyclin D/CDK4 or cyclin D/CDK6 complexes phosphorylate the retinoblastoma (RB), followed by another phosphorylation caused by cyclin E/CDK2 complex. Phospho-RB can then dissociate from E2F, allowing transcription and progression of the cells into the S phase. Similar to the G1-S phase, transition of the cells from the S phase into the G2 phase and G2 phase into M phase are regulated by cyclin A/CDK2 and CDK1 and cyclin B/CDK1 complexes, respectively ⁽⁶⁸⁾.

The activity of cyclin-CDKs complexes is inhibited by two families of cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitors (CKIs). The members of the INK4 family, including p15^{//NK4b}, p16^{//NK4a}, p18^{//NK4c}, and p19^{//NK4d}, are direct inhibitors of CDK4 and CDK6 whereas members of the CIP/KIP family, including p21^{CIP}, p27^{KIP1}

and p57^{KIP2}, are specific inhibitors of CDK2/cyclin E, as well as CDK2/cyclin A, CDK1/cyclin A and CDK1/cyclin B ^(68, 69) (Figure 3).



2.3 Apoptosis

Apoptosis is a naturally occurring form of programmed cell death. It plays a crucial role in both physiological and pathological processes. Apoptotic cell is morphologically characterized by DNA fragmentation, cell shrinkage and membrane blebbing⁽⁷⁰⁾. Most chemotherapeutic agents induce cancer cells to undergo apoptosis process⁽⁷¹⁾. There are two major apoptosis pathways, including *the extrinsic death receptor pathway* and *the intrinsic mitochondrial pathway* (Figure 4).

The extrinsic pathway can be initiated by binding of extracellular signaling proteins such as Fas ligand, tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF α), and TNF-related apoptosis inducing ligand (TRAIL) to cell-surface death receptors, which are transmembrane proteins belonging to the tumor necrosis factor (TNF) receptor family. This leads to recruitment of intracellular adaptor proteins such as Fas-associated death domain (FADD) and initiator procaspases (pro-caspase-8, pro-caspase-10, or both), forming a death-inducing signaling complex (DISC). The formation of the DISC results in activation of the initiator caspases, further activating downstream executioner caspases such as caspase-3 or caspase-7, leading to apoptosis⁽⁷²⁾.

The intrinsic pathway is apoptosis program initiated from inside the cell, usually in response to injury, DNA damage, hypoxia, oxidative stress, tumorigenesis or anticancer drugs. The intrinsic pathway of apoptosis is tightly regulated by member of the Bcl-2 family proteins, which can be divided into pro- apoptotic and anti- apoptotic proteins. The pro- apoptotic proteins, consisting of two sub families including the BH123 proteins e.g. Bax and Bak and the BH3-only proteins e.g. Bad, Bid, Bim, PUMA and NOXA, promote apoptotic proteins, such as Bcl-2 and Bcl-xl, inhibit apoptosis by blocking the release of cytochrome C.

Usually, the anti-apoptotic proteins, such as Bcl-2 and Bcl-xl, are mainly located on the cytosolic surface of the outer mitochondrial membrane to preserve the integrity of the mitochondrial membrane, preventing the inappropriate release of cytochrome C from mitochondrial. These proteins bind to and inhibit pro-apoptotic proteins such as Bax and Bak, resulting in inhibition of apoptosis. After receiving apoptotic stimuli, the pro-apoptotic BH3-only proteins bind and inhibit anti-apoptotic proteins, leading to the activation of pro-apoptotic BH123 protein, Bax and Bak. Once activated, Bax and Bak promote cytochrome C release into the cytosol. The cytochrome C then bind to an apoptotic protease-activating factor 1 (Apaf1), forming an oligomeric apoptosome to recruit and activate initiator procaspases (pro-caspase-9). Once activated, caspase-9 can cleave and activate executioner caspase (caspase-3 or caspase-7), leading to apoptosis ^(73, 74).



Figure 4 Apoptosis pathway (74)

2.4 Cepharanthine



Figure 5 (A) Chemical structure of cepharanthine ⁽¹¹⁾ and (B) *Stephania venosa* (Blume) Spreng

Cepharanthine (CEP) is a biscoclaurine alkaloid, extracted from the root of Stephania cepharantha Hayata (Figure 5A). It can also been isolated from Stephania venosa (Blume) Spreng and Stephania erecta Craib, which are commonly found in Thailand (Figure 5B). This compound has been used in Japan for more than 40 years to treat various acute and chronic diseases. It is available in both powder and tablet forms ⁽²⁷⁾. Cepharanthine is well absorbed and mainly distributed to the liver, spleen and kidney. Pharmacokinetics studies in healthy adult males revealed the time to maximum concentration (t_{max}) following oral administration of a 10 to 60 mg dose is between 1.1 and 2.5 h as well as t_{max} for a 120 mg dose is approximately 1.2 ± 0.3 h. The 48 h cumulative urinary excretion rate of 120 mg of cepharanthine in healthy adult meals is 1.4 \pm 0.3% ⁽¹¹⁾. Currently, cepharanthine is approved by the Japanese Ministry of Health for treatment of radiation-induced leukopenia, alopecia areata and alopecia pityrodes ⁽¹¹⁾. Various pharmacological effects of cepharanthine have been reported such as anti-malarial ⁽¹³⁾, antioxidant ^(10, 14), anti-allergic ⁽¹⁵⁾, anti-inflammatory ^(16, 17),

anti-platelet aggregation ^(75, 76), reversing multi-drug resistance ^(77, 78), and antitumor ⁽¹⁸⁻²¹⁾.

2.4.1 Antitumor activity

Several preclinical studies have demonstrated the antitumor activity of cepharanthine against several types of cancers such as adenosquamous cell carcinoma ⁽²⁷⁾, oral squamous cell carcinoma ⁽²⁸⁾, leukemia ^(18, 79), (23) hepatocellular carcinoma⁽²¹⁾, cholangiocarcinoma (19) myeloma osteosarcoma⁽²⁵⁾, cervical adenocarcinoma⁽²²⁾ and non-small-cell lung cancer ⁽¹⁰⁾. Previously, cepharanthine was found to induce apoptosis in cancer cells through triggering several signaling pathways such as STAT pathway ⁽²⁵⁾, NF-**K**B pathway^(19, 26), p38 MAPKs/ ERKs/ JNK1/2 pathway^(18, 21) and Akt pathway ^(21, 79). Moreover, Hua et al. was reported that apoptosis induction by cepharanthine is mediated through induction of Bax and reduction of Bcl-2 in non-small-cell lung cancer ⁽¹⁰⁾. Additionally, cepharanthine was found to decrease the expression of Bcl-xl gene, resulting in apoptotic cell death ⁽²⁵⁾. Previous studies also illustrated that 1-10 µM of cepharanthine could induce apoptosis in human leukemia T cells, Jurkat, and human chronic myelogenous leukemia cells, K526 cells, via up-regulation of Bid, activation of caspase-3 and -9 and cleavage of poly (ADP-ribose) polymerase (PARP) ⁽⁷⁹⁾. Similarly, activation of caspase-3, -8, -9 and cleavage of PARP were shown to be associated with antitumor effects of cepharanthine in other numerous human cancer cells, including adenosquamous cell carcinoma, non-smallcell lung cancer, myeloma and cholangiocarcinoma ^(10, 19, 21, 23, 25, 27, 28). Biswas et al. and Hua et al. also found that cepharanthine could disrupt mitochondrial membrane potential, which leads to cytochrome C release and ROS generation, resulting in apoptotic cell death ^(10, 21, 23). In addition, cepharanthine could increase sub-G1 accumulation, indicating apoptotic cell death ⁽²⁶⁾. Furthermore, this alkaloid could also trigger cell cycle arrest. Kikukawa et al. revealed that cepharanthine could induce G1 arrest through increasing CDKs inhibitor, p15^{INK4B}, and decreasing cyclin D1 and CDK6 in myeloma⁽²³⁾. In a manner similar to myeloma, cepharanthine could inhibit expression of cyclin D1 and c-Myc, resulting in cell growth arrest at G1 phase in osteosarcoma cells ⁽²⁵⁾. Moreover, Harada et al. reported that cepharanthine induced G1 arrest in oral adenosquamous cell carcinoma by up-regulating $p21^{WAF1}$ as well as $p27^{Kip1}$, leading to cyclin E down-regulation ^(27, 28). Hua et al. have recently shown that cepharanthine was able to induce cell cycle arrest at S phase and G2/M phase in H1299 and A549 non-smallcell lung cancer cells, respectively ⁽¹⁰⁾. Interestingly, cepharanthine has been demonstrated to induce TYS cells, adenosquamous cell carcinoma carrying p53 mutation, to undergo cell cycle arrest by up-regulating of p21^{WAF1} protein and it was suggested that cepharanthine is also capable of triggering cell growth arrest in a p53-independent pathway⁽²⁷⁾. Recently, Rattanawong et al. (2015) reported that cepharanthine could efficiently inhibit the proliferation of p53-mutant HT-29 colorectal cancer cells which are resistant to commonly used chemotherapeutic drug⁽⁸⁰⁾. Moreover, cepharanthine has demonstrated to potentiate the anticancer activity of various chemotherapeutic agents including vincristine and adriamycin by inducing apoptosis in p53-deficient osteosarcoma cell lines, SaOS2⁽²⁹⁾. Also, Zehedi et al. found that the combination of docetaxel (DTX) and cepharanthine resulted in a synergistic inhibition of cell growth in taxane-resistant ovarian cancer cells, HeyA8-MDR. Mechanistic studies revealed that the synergistic effect was mediated through enhanced apoptosis, increased intracellular DTX accumulation and reduced DTX efflux ⁽⁸¹⁾.

2.4.2 Clinical toxicity

Although cepharanthine has been widely used, severe side effects of this compound have never been reported. Previously reported that about 28 clinical cases (0.79%) from a total 3556 cases receiving the compound had headaches, dizziness and stomach discomfort but none of these complaints were serious side effects ⁽¹²⁾. Moreover, Tanimura et al. revealed that no side effects were observed in two patients who took large doses 3 g/day and 6 g/day of cepharanthine for 35 and 23 days, respectively. Intravenous injection of cepharanthine 40-60 mg/day for 2 months was also found to be safe ⁽⁸²⁾.



CHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY

CHAPTER III

MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.1 Reagents

- Annexin-V, Fluorescein conjugate (FITC) (Life technologies, USA)
- Cepharanthine (Abcam, UK)
- Chloroform (Lab-scan, Thailand)
- Cisplatin (Sigma, USA)
- Dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) [cell culture grade] (Sigma, USA)
- Dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) [analytical grade] (Merck, Thailand)
- Doxorubicin (Sigma, USA)
- Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium (DMEM) (Gibco, USA)
- Ethanol (Merck, Germany)
- Express SYBER Green qPCR supermix universal (Life technologies, USA)
- Fetal bovine serum (Gibco, USA)
- ImProm-II[™] Reverse Transcription system (Promega, USA)
- Nuclease free water (QIAGEN, USA)
- Oxaliplatin (Sigma, USA)
- Penicillin-streptomycin (Gibco, USA)
- Propidium iodide (Santa Cruz Biotechnology, USA)
- RNase (Thermo Scientific, EU)
- Roswell Park Memorial Institute (RPMI)-1640 medium (Gibco, USA)
- 3-(4, 5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2,5-diphenyltetrazolium bromide (MTT)
 (Sigma, USA)
- TRIzol Reagent (Life technologies, USA)
- 2-Propanol (Merck, Germany)
- 0.4% trypan blue dye (Sigma, USA)
- 0.25% trypsin-EDTA (Gibco, USA)

3.2 Materials and equipments

3.2.1 Materials

- 100 mm² cell culture dish (Corning Inc., USA)
- 15 ml conical tube (Corning Inc., USA)
- 0.1 ml low profile polypropylene thin wall PCR tube strips (Corning Life Sciences, USA)
- 6-well plate (Corning Inc., USA)
- 96-well plate (Corning Inc., USA)
- 75 cm² rectangular cell culture flask (Corning Inc., USA)
- 25 cm² rectangular cell culture flask (Corning Inc., USA)
- 5 ml round bottom polystyrene test tube (Falcon, USA)

Chulalongkorn University

3.2.2 Equipments

- Analytical balance 0.001 g (Mettler Toledo, Switzerland)
- Analytical balance 0.00001 g (Sartorius, Germany)
- Autopipette (Brand, Germany)
- Autoclave (Sanyo, Japan)
- Biohazard laminar flow hood (Labconco, USA)
- Controller pipette (Gilson, USA)
- CO₂ incubator (Thermo, USA)

- Centrifuge (Hettich, Germany)
- Fluorescence flow cytometer (BD Bioscience, USA)
- Light microscope (Nikon, Japan)
- Microplate reader (Thermo, Finland)
- PCR thermal cycler (Eppendrof, Germany)
- pH meter (Mettler Toledo, Switzerland)
- StepOnePlus[™] Real-Time PCR system (Applied Biosystems, USA)
- Temperature control centrifuge (Eppendrof, Germany)
- Vortex mixer (Scientific Industries, USA)
- Ultrasonic bath (Bandelin, Germany)
- Water bath (IKA Labortechnik, Germany)

3.3 Methods

3.3.1 Preparation of chemotherapeutic agents and cepharanthine

Stock solutions of cisplatin, doxorubicin, oxaliplatin and cepharanthine were prepared in dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) at concentrations of 50 mM, 0.17 mM, 0.05 mM, and 50 mM, respectively, and stored at 4°C until use. In the experiments, the stock solutions were diluted in culture medium to give appropriate final concentrations. The final concentration of DMSO was 0.2% (v/v).

3.3.2 Cell lines and cell culture

Two human ovarian cancer cell lines, CAOV-3 and OVCAR-3, were purchased from American Type Culture Collection (ATCC, USA). Both are epithelial cell lines. CAOV-3 cells derived from ovarian adenocarcinoma of a 54-year-old patient are classified as chemosensitive cells while OVCAR-3 cells derived from ovarian adenocarcinoma of a 60-year-old patient who was not respond to clinically relevant concentrations of adriamycin (doxorubicin) and cisplatin are classified as chemoresistant cells. It should be noted that the population doubling time of CaOV-3 and OVCAR-3 cells is approximately 40 and 57 h, respectively.

CAOV-3 cells were cultured in Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium (DMEM) supplemented with 10% heat-inactivated fetal bovine serum (FBS) and 100 U/ml penicillin and 100 μ g/ml streptomycin. OVCAR-3 cells were maintained in Roswell Park Memorial Institute (RPMI) - 1640 medium containing 20% FBS and 100 U/ml penicillin and 100 μ g/ml streptomycin. Cells were kept at 37°C in a humidified incubator with 5% CO₂.

3.3.3 Cell viability assay

Cell viability was evaluated using MTT assay that base on the enzymatic reduction of a yellow tetrazolium salt, 3-(4, 5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2, 5-diphenyltetrazolium bromide (MTT) into a purple formazan crystal in viable cells.

Briefly, CAOV-3 and OVCAR-3 cells were seeded in 96-well plates at a density of 7.5×10^3 cells/well and allowed to attach overnight in 5% CO₂ at 37 °C. After that, cells were treated with various concentrations of cepharanthine (0.1, 1, 10, 100 μ M), cisplatin (0.1, 1, 10, 100 μ M), doxorubicin (0.01, 0.1, 1, 10, 100 μ M) and oxaliplatin (1, 10, 100 μ M) or 0.2% DMSO in complete medium (vehicle control) for 24, 48 and 72 h. After incubation,

15 μ l of MTT (0.5 mg/ml in PBS) was added to each well and incubated for 3 h at 37 °C, 5% CO₂ in the dark. Then, the supernatant was removed and 150 μ l of DMSO was added to dissolve the formazan crystals. Finally, the absorbance was measured at 570 nm. The results are presented as percentage of cell viability, which was calculated using the following equation:

% cell viability = (Abs. of samples/ Abs. of control) × 100

The half inhibitory concentration (IC_{50}) was obtained using GraphPad Prism 7 (GraphPad Software, USA).

3.3.4 Analysis of cell cycle progression

Measurement of cellular DNA content to identify the proportion of cells that are in one of the three interphase stages of the cell cycle: G1, S, or G2/M phase can be performed using propidium iodide (PI), the fluorescent nucleic acid dye ⁽⁸³⁾.

Briefly, CaOV-3 and OVCAR-3 cells were seeded in 6-well plates at a density of 2.5×10^5 cells/well and incubated in 5% CO₂ at 37 °C for 24 h. According to the IC₅₀ of cepharanthine and the doubling time of CaOV-3 cells and OVCAR-3 cells, CaOV-3 cells were treated with 5, 10 and 20 µM of cepharanthine, 10 µM of cisplatin (positive control), or 0.2% DMSO in complete DMEM medium (vehicle control) for 24 h whereas OVCAR-3 were exposed with 10, 20 and 40 µM of cepharanthine, 30 µM of cisplatin, or 0.2% DMSO in complete RPMI medium for 48 h. After incubation, the cells were harvested by trypsinization and collected by centrifugation at 1,500 rpm for 5 min. The cell pellets were washed with 500 µl of ice-cold PBS twice and fixed with ice-cold absolute ethanol for 30 min. After washing with ice-cold

PBS twice, samples were incubated with 5 μ l of a 4 mg/ml stock of RNase at room temperature for 30 min. Cell staining was performed by incubating samples with 5 μ l of 0.05 μ g/ml stock of propidium iodide (PI) for 15 min at room temperature in the dark. The samples were measured by flow cytometry and analyzed using FCS Express 5 Image Cytometry software. Cells with 2n and 4n DNA content are in the G1 and G2/M phase of cell cycle, respectively, while cells contain DNA content between 2n and 4n are in the S phase. Apoptotic cells that have lost some of DNA content are in the sub-G1 phase (Figure 6).



3.3.5 Assessment of apoptosis using annexin V/PI staining

Apoptosis can be determined using annexin V-FITC conjugate and propidium iodide (PI) staining. During the early phase of apoptosis, phospholipid phosphatidylserine (PS) translocates from the inner to the outer leaflet of cellular membrane. Thus, fluorescently labeled annexin V which specifically binds with externalized PS can be used to detect early apoptotic cells. Conversely, cells undergoing necrosis lose membrane integrity, allowing entry of propidium iodide, a cell-impermeant DNA-binding dye ⁽⁸⁴⁾.

Briefly, CaOV-3 and OVCAR-3 cells were seeded in 6-well plates at a density of 2.5 × 10^5 cells/well and incubated in 5% CO₂ at 37 °C for 24 h. Then, CaOV-3 cells were treated with 5, 10 and 20 µM of cepharanthine, 10 µM of cisplatin (positive control), or 0.2% DMSO in complete DMEM medium (vehicle control) for 24 h. OVCAR-3 cells were treated with 10, 20 and 40 µM of cepharanthine, 30 µM of cisplatin, or 0.2% DMSO in complete RPMI medium for 48 h. After incubation, cells were harvested by trypsinization and collected by centrifugation at 1,500 rpm for 5 min. The cell pellets were washed with 500 µl of ice-cold PBS twice and then suspended with 100 µl of assay buffer. Thereafter, 1 µl of annexin V-FITC and 1 µl of propidium iodide (PI) were added and incubated for 20 min at room temperature in the dark. The stained cells were counted using fluorescence flow cytometer. Q1 (annexin V-/PI-), Q2 (annexin V+/PI-), Q3 (annexin V+/PI+) and Q4 (annexin V-/PI+) represent living cells, early-apoptotic cells, late-apoptotic cells and necrotic cells, respectively (Figure 7).



Figure 7 The cytograms of apoptotic/necrotic cell

3.3.6 Measurement of gene expression by real-time RT PCR analysis

The mRNA level of Bcl-2 family proteins, including pro-apoptotic (*Bax, Bak*) and anti-apoptotic (*Bcl-2, Bcl-xl*), and cell cycle regulators including *cyclin A, cyclin D, cyclin E* and *p21* were analyzed by real-time RT PCR using SYBR Green I as a probe.

Briefly, two human ovarian cancer cell lines, CaOV-3 and OVCAR-3, were seeded in 6-well plates at a density of 5×10^5 cells/well. After overnight incubation, CaOV-3 cells were treated with 5, 10 and 20 µM of cepharanthine, 10 μ M of cisplatin (positive control) or 0.2% DMSO in complete DMEM medium (vehicle control) for 24 h whereas OVCAR-3 cells were treated with various concentrations of cepharanthine (10, 20 and 40 µM), 30 µM of cisplatin or 0.2% DMSO in complete RPMI medium for 24 h. Total RNA extraction was performed using TRIzol reagent. The concentrations of total RNA were evaluated spectrophotometrically at 260 nm. Then, the RNA (mRNA) was reverse transcribed to cDNA using Improm- II[™] Reverse Transcription system according to the manufacturer's instruction (Promega, USA). Real-time RT PCR reactions were performed in a StepOne[™] Real-Time PCR System using the SYBR Green I qPCR Master Mix and specific forward and reverse primers (Table 1). The reactions were carried out using the following conditions: 50°C for 2 min, 95 °C for 2 min, and 40 cycles of 95°C for 30 sec, 60 °C for 30 sec and 72°C for 30 sec. The mRNA levels of apoptosis and cell cycle regulators normalized to housekeeping gene glyceraldehydes- 3phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH) was calculated by the $^{\Delta\Delta}$ Ct method using StepOnePlus[™] software.

Target genes	Primer sequences		
GAPDH	Forward: 5'-AAG GTC GGA GTC AAC GGA TTT GGT -3'		
	Reverse: 5'-ATG GCA TGG ACT GTG GTC ATG AGT -3'		
Bcl-2	Forward: 5'- TCA TGT GTG TGG AGA GCG TCA A -3'		
	Reverse: 5'- CTA CTG CTT TAG TGA ACC TTT TGC -3'		
Bcl-xl	Forward: 5'- TTG GAC AAT GGA CTG GTT GA -3'		
	Reverse: 5'- GTA GAG TGG ATG GTC AGT G -3'		
Bax	Forward: 5'- GAC GAA CTG GAC AGT AAC ATG -3'		
	Reverse: 5'- AGG AAG TCC AAT GTC CAG CC -3'		
Bak	Forward: 5'- ATG GTC ACC TTA CCT CTG CAA -3'		
	Reverse: 5'- TCA TAG CGT CGG TTG ATG TCG -3'		
Cyclin A	Forward: 5'- CTG CTG CTA TGC TGT TAG CC -3'		
	Reverse: 5'- TGT TGG AGC AGC TAA GTC AAA A -3'		
Cyclin D	Forward: 5'- TTG TTG AAG TTG CAA AGT CCT GG -3'		
	Reverse: 5'- ATG GTT TCC ACT TCG CAG CA -3'		
Cyclin E	Forward: 5'- TCC TGG ATG TTG ACT GCC TT -3'		
	Reverse: 5'- CAC CAC TGA TAC CCT GAA ACC T -3'		
p21	Forward: 5'- CCT GTC ACT GTC TTG TAC CCT -3'		
	Reverse: 5'- GCG TTT GGA GTG GTA GAA ATC T -3'		

Table 1 Sequences of primers used for real-time RT PCR

3.3.7 Statistical analysis

All samples were prepared and analyzed from three independent experiments. The results are presented as means \pm standard error of mean (SEM). Multiple comparisons were performed by a one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) followed by LSD post hoc test using SPSS software. Statistical differences between two groups were evaluated by Student's *t* test using SPSS software. *P*<0.05 was considered statistically significant.

CHAPTER IV

RESULTS

4.1. Effect of chemotherapeutic agents and cepharanthine on cell viability of CaOV-3, a chemosensitive human ovarian cancer cell line.

Initially, the cytotoxic effects of chemotherapeutic agents including doxorubicin, oxaliplatin and cisplatin on a chemosensitive human ovarian cancer cell line, CaOV-3, were investigated. Cells were treated with various concentrations of the drugs: doxorubicin (0.01, 0.1, 1, 10 and 100 µM), oxaliplatin (1, 10, 100 and 1000 μ M), and cisplatin (0.1, 1, 10 and 100 μ M) for 24, 48 and 72 h. Then, cell viability was evaluated using MTT reduction assay. As shown in Figure 8, all chemotherapeutic agents inhibited CaOV-3 cell growth in a concentration dependent manner. Figure 8A illustrated that doxorubicin at concentrations of 0.1, 1, 10 and 100 µM significantly induced CaOV-3 cell death at 24, 48 and 72 h of incubation when compared to the vehicle control (0.2% DMSO) (P<0.01). For oxaliplatin, the drug at concentrations of 100 and 1000 µM significantly inhibited CaOV-3 cell growth following 24 h treatment and significant cell death was also detected after treatment with 10 μ M of the drug for longer incubation time (48 and 72 h) (P<0.001) (Figure 8B). Similarly, at 24 h of incubation, cisplatin only at a concentration of 100 µM effectively reduced viability of CaOV-3 cells compared with the vehicle control (P < 0.001) (Figure 8C). However, cytotoxicity of this compound was increased after 48 and 72 h of incubation. Cisplatin at 10 and 100 µM significantly induced CaOV-3 cell death by 56.86±1.28% and 85.35±0.13% at 48 h and 77.60±0.45% and 87.71±0.25% at 72 h, respectively.

Previously, several studies reported that cepharanthine has anticancer effect against various human cancer cells but its effect on human ovarian cancer cells has never been investigated. Therefore, the anticancer activity of cepharanthine against CaOV-3 was evaluated using MTT assay. As shown in Figure 8D, cepharanthine inhibited the growth of CaOV-3 cells in a concentration dependent manner. Treatment of cepharanthine at concentrations of 10 and 100 µM significantly decreased the viability of CaOV-3 cells, compared with the vehicle control at all-time points. The percentage of cell viability at 24, 48 and 72 h were 48.75±1.28%, 24.33±0.82% and $15.33\pm0.88\%$ after treatment with 10 μ M cepharanthine and $15.20\pm0.14\%$, 11.76±0.08% and 9.52±0.06% after incubation with 100 µM cepharanthine, respectively. Then, the cytotoxicity of the two-fold dilution of toxic concentrations of cepharanthine was further determined. Following 48 h treatment, cepharanthine at concentrations of 3.125, 6.25, 12.5, 25, 50 and 100 µM significantly decreased viabilities of CaOV-3 cells to 85.7, 78.2, 31.2, 9.6, 9.5 and 9.2 % of the vehicle control, respectively (Figure 8E).

The half inhibitory concentration (IC₅₀) values of chemotherapeutic agents and cepharanthine in CaOV-3 cells at 24, 48 and 72 h of incubation were illustrated in Table 2. These findings demonstrated that cepharanthine possess the potent anticancer effect on chemosensitive human ovarian cancer cells, CaOV-3. The IC₅₀ values of cepharanthine in CaOV-3 cells at 24, 48 and 72 h of incubation were 2.90, 1.24 and 2.17 fold lower than those of cisplatin, one of the most commonly used drugs for ovarian cancer. To determine the mechanism(s) underlying anticancer activity of cepharanthine in CaOV-3 cells, the compound at concentrations of 5 (a half-fold IC₅₀), 10 (IC₅₀) and 20 (two-fold IC₅₀) μ M were used. Cisplatin at a concentration of 10 μ M (IC₅₀) was used as a positive control.



Figure 8 The effect of chemotherapeutic agents and cepharanthine on cell viability of a chemosensitive ovarian cancer cell line, CaOV-3. Cells were exposed to the various concentrations of (A) doxorubicin: 0.01, 0.1, 1, 10, 100 μ M, (B) oxaliplatin: 1, 10, 100, 1000 μ M, (C) cisplatin: 0.1, 1, 10, 100 μ M, and (D) cepharanthine: 0.1, 1, 10, 100 μ M for 24, 48 and 72 h incubation. (E) Cells were treated with 3. 125, 6. 25, 12. 5, 25, 50 and 100 μ M of cepharanthine for 48 h. Cell viability was assessed using MTT assay. The results are expressed as mean ± SEM of three independent experiments. ^bP<0.01, ^cP<0.001 compared to the vehicle control (0.2% DMSO).

Drugs	IC ₅₀ (μM)			
Diags	24 h	48 h	72 h	
doxorubicin	2.10 ± 0.52	0.10 ± 0.02	0.07 ± 0.02	
oxaliplatin	361.13 ± 58.79	43.92 ± 12.04	21.36 ± 3.09	
cisplatin	66.74 ± 4.20	13.51 ± 0.88	7.36 ± 0.13	
cepharanthine	22.99 ± 7.28^{b}	10.93 ± 0.14	3.39 ± 0.28^{a}	

Table 2 IC_{50} valuesofchemotherapeuticagentsandcepharanthineonachemosensitive human ovarian cancer cell line, CaOV-3.

- Data represent means ± SEM from three independent experiments.

- ^aP<0.05, ^bP<0.01 compared with cisplatin.

4.2. Effect of chemotherapeutic agents and cepharanthine on cell viability of OVCAR-3, a chemoresistant human ovarian cancer cells.

Resistance to chemotherapy is a major problem in cancer treatment, therefore novel compounds with potent anticancer activity against chemoresistant cancer cells are urgently need ⁽⁸⁵⁾. In the present study, the effect of chemotherapeutic agents including doxorubicin, oxaliplatin and cisplatin on a chemoresistant ovarian cancer cell line, OVCAR-3, which have been reported to be resistant to several conventional therapeutic drugs, including cisplatin and adriamycin (doxorubicin), were determined. OVCAR-3 cells were treated with various concentrations of the drugs: doxorubicin (0.01, 0.1, 1, 10 and 100 μ M), oxaliplatin (1, 10, 100 and 1000 μ M), and cisplatin (0.1, 1, 10 and 100 μ M) for 24, 48 and 72 h and cell viability was assessed using MTT reduction assay. As shown in Figures 9A- C, all three chemotherapeutic agents reduced OVCAR-3 cell proliferation in a concentration- dependent manner. At 24 h incubation, doxorubicin at concentrations of 10 and 100 μ M significantly inhibited OVCAR-3 cell growth

to 71.77±0.55% and 43.14±0.40% compared to the vehicle control, respectively (Figure 9A, P<0.001). Cytotoxicity of the drug was significantly increased when incubation times were extended to 48 and 72 h. Figure 9B illustrated that oxaliplatin at 100 and 1000 µM significantly induced OVCAR-3 cell death at all-time points whereas toxicity of the drug at 10 µM was also observed following 72 h incubation. Similarly, cisplatin only at a concentration of 100 µM significantly decreased cell viability at 24 h treatment (P < 0.01) (Figure 9C). And anticancer activity of the drug was found to be higher at longer incubation times (48 and 72 h). Cisplatin at 10 and 100 µM significantly induced OVCAR-3 cell death by 25.88±2.42% and 74.75±0.22% at 48 h and 44.72±0.81% and 77.39±0.32% at 72 h, respectively.

Recently, Rattanawong A. et al. reported that cepharanthine has anticancer effect against chemoresistant human colorectal cancer cells (HT-29). Therefore, in this study, the anticancer activity of cepharanthine on chemoresistant human ovarian cancer cells (OVCAR-3) was investigated using MTT assay. Cells were treated with 0.1, 1, 10 and 100 μ M of cepharanthine for 24, 48 and 72 h and cell viability was determined using MTT reduction assay. Figure 9D showed that cepharanthine inhibited the proliferation of OVCAR- 3 cells in a concentration- dependent manner. The highest concentration of cepharanthine (100 μ M) significantly induced cell death at all-time points compared to the vehicle control (P<0.001). A significant decrease in cell viability was also noted at 10 μ M of cepharanthine at 48 and 72 h of treatment. Cell viabilities were 82.16±1.76% and 72.47±1.58% after treatment at 48 and 72 h, respectively, when compared with the vehicle Then, the cytotoxic activity of the toxic concentrations of control. cepharanthine was determined using the two-fold dilution. Following 48 h treatment, cepharanthine at concentrations of 3.125, 6.25, 12.5, 25, 50 and

100 μM significantly decreased cell viabilities of OVCAR-3 cells to 99.4, 87.5, 98.2, 88.1, 56.3 and 10.3 % of the vehicle control, respectively (Figure 9E).

The half inhibitory concentration (IC_{50}) values of chemotherapeutic agents and cepharanthine in OVCAR-3 cells were illustrated in Table 3. This finding demonstrated that at 24 h treatment, of all four agents tested, cepharanthine possess the most potent anticancer activity. The IC_{50} of cisplatin at 24 h was however undetermined because the highest concentration of the compound used in this experiment inhibited OVCAR-3 cell growth approximately 56.18 \pm 0.40 %. It is worth mentioning that, IC₅₀ of cepharanthine at 72 h of incubation decreased by approximately 3 times that at 24 of incubation. Interestingly, at 72 h of incubation, the anticancer effect of cepharanthine was significantly greater than cisplatin in OVCAR-3 cells, indicating that cepharanthine effectively controlled the growth of ovarian cancer cells that are often resistant to commonly used chemotherapeutic agents such as cisplatin. To determine the mechanism(s) responsible for anticancer activity of cepharanthine in OVCAR-3 cells, the concentration of the compound at concentrations of 10 (a half-fold IC_{50}), 20 (IC_{50}) and 40 (twofold IC₅₀) μ M were used. Cisplatin at a concentration of 30 μ M (IC₅₀) was used, as a positive control.



Figure 9 The effect of chemotherapeutic agents and cepharanthine on cell viability of a chemoresistant ovarian cancer cell line, OVCAR-3. Cells were exposed to the various concentrations of (A) doxorubicin: 0.01, 0.1, 1, 10, 100 μ M, (B) oxaliplatin: 1, 10, 100, 1000 μ M, (C) cisplatin: 0.1, 1, 10, 100 μ M, and (D) cepharanthine: 0.1, 1, 10, 100 μ M for 24, 48 and 72 h incubation. (E) Cells were treated with 3. 125, 6. 25, 12. 5, 25, 50 and 100 μ M of cepharanthine for 48 h. Cell viability was assessed using MTT assay. The results are expressed as mean ± SEM of three independent experiments. ^bP<0.01, ^cP<0.001 compared to the vehicle control (0.2% DMSO).

Drugs	IC ₅₀ (μM)			
2.035	24 h	48 h	72 h	
doxorubicin	55.81 ± 11.69	1.06 ± 0.18	0.81 ± 0.06	
oxaliplatin	899.13 ± 55.81	131.60 ± 8.29	80.49 ± 4.05	
cisplatin	NA	34.26 ± 1.36	24.87 ± 0.44	
cepharanthine	47.25 ± 5.74	31.20 ± 1.27	15.29 ± 1.49^{a}	

Table 3 IC_{50} values of chemotherapeutic agents and cepharanthine on a chemoresistant human ovarian cancer cell line, OVCAR-3.

- Data represent means \pm SEM from three independent experiments.

- NA is not applicable.

- ^aP<0.05 compared with cisplatin.

4.3. Effect of cepharanthine on cell cycle distribution in CaOV-3 cells.

Several anticancer agents induce cell cycle arrest at either G0/G1, S or G2/M phase, leading to apoptotic cell death ⁽⁸⁶⁾. Previous studies reported that cepharanthine induced cell cycle arrest at G1 phase in adenosquamous cell carcinoma ⁽²⁷⁾, oral squamous cell carcinoma ⁽²⁸⁾ and myeloma ⁽²³⁾. Therefore, induction of cell cycle arrest in CaOV-3 cells by cepharanthine was evaluated. The cells were treated with 5, 10 and 20 μ M of cepharanthine, 10 μ M of cisplatin or 0.2% DMSO for 24 h and cell cycle distribution was examined using propidium iodide (PI) staining followed by flow cytometry analysis. As shown in Figure 10, treatment of CaOV-3 cells with 5 μ M of cepharanthine inhibited cell cycle progression at G1 phase, resulting in a significant increase in the percentage of cells at the G1 phase (from 52.65±3.44% to 64.10±0.66%, *P*<0.001) which was accompanied by reduction of the cells in the S phase (from 17.03±0.70% to 11.34±0.51%, *P*<0.001) and G2/M phase (from 24.53±3.40% to 16.53±0.74%, *P*<0.017) when compared

to the vehicle control. However, it should be noted that cepharanthine at higher concentrations, 10 and 20 μ M, caused significant accumulation of CaOV-3 cells at sub-G1 phase (*P*<0.001), indicating apoptotic cell death. The percentage of cells in the sub-G1 phase was increased by approximately 4 and 9 times following treatment with cepharanthine at 10 and 20 μ M, respectively. In contrast to cepharanthine, incubation of the cells with 10 μ M cisplatin significantly induced cell cycle arrest at the S phase (Figure 10). Taken together, these findings suggest that cepharanthine has concentration-dependent dual effects by inducing G1 cell cycle arrest at a low concentration and triggering apoptosis at higher concentrations in CaOV-3 cells.



Figure 10 The effect of cepharanthine on cell cycle distribution of CaOV-3 cells. Cells were treated with 5, 10 and 20 μ M of cepharanthine, 10 μ M of cisplatin (positive control) or 0.2% DMSO (vehicle control) for 24 h. The percentage of CaOV-3 cells in sub-G1, G1, S and G2/M phase was determined by propidium iodide (PI) staining followed by flow cytometry analysis. Results are reported as means ± SEM of three independent experiments. Statistically significant differences compared with the vehicle control (^aP<0.05, ^bP<0.01 and ^cP<0.001).

4.4. Effect of cepharanthine on cell cycle distribution in OVCAR-3 cells.

The cell cycle distribution following cepharanthine treatment was evaluated using PI staining and flow cytometry analysis. OVCAR-3 cells were exposed with 10, 20 or 40 μ M of cepharanthine, 30 μ M of cisplatin or 0.2% DMSO for 48 h. As illustrated in Figure 11, treatment of cepharanthine did not significantly cause OVCAR-3 cells to pause at any phase of the cell cycle when compared to the vehicle control. However, cepharanthine, at the highest concentration (40 μ M), induced a significant population of OVCAR-3 cells to accumulate at the sub-G1 phase, indicating apoptotic cell death. The percentage of cells in sub-G1 phase was increased by approximately 3 times that of control (*P*<0.021). In a manner similar to cepharanthine, cisplatin significantly caused accumulation of cells in sub-G1 phase approximately 4 times that of control (Figure 11, *P*<0.009). These results suggest that anticancer activity of cepharanthine is not mediated through cell cycle arrest in OVCAR-3 cells.

จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University



Figure 11 The effect of cepharanthine on cell cycle distribution of OVCAR-3 cells. Cells were treated with 10, 20 and 40 μ M of cepharanthine, 30 μ M of cisplatin (positive control) or 0.2% DMSO (vehicle control) for 48 h. The percentages of OVCAR-3 cells in each phase were measured by PI staining and flow cytometry analysis. Results are presented as means ± SEM of three independent experiments. Statistically significant differences compared to the vehicle control (^aP<0.05 and ^bP<0.01).

CHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY

4.5. Effect of cepharanthine on the mRNA levels of cell cycle regulators in CaOV-3 cells.

Cyclins and cyclin-dependent kinases (Cdks) are the major regulators of cell cycle progression. The activities of Cdks are tightly regulated by Cdk inhibitor (CKIs) such as p21 ⁽⁸⁷⁾. Previously, several studies indicated cepharanthine could down-regulate cyclin D and E in osteosarcoma cell ⁽²⁵⁾ and adenosquamous cell carcinoma, respectively ⁽²⁷⁾ while it could upregulated p21 in myeloma ⁽²³⁾. Therefore, mRNA levels of cyclins D, E and A as well as p21, one of the most important CKIs, following cepharanthine treatment were evaluated in this study using real-time RT-PCR analysis. Figure 12A illustrated that cepharanthine significantly down-regulated expression of cyclin A gene in a concentration-dependent manner, whereas it did not alter the mRNA levels of cyclin D and cyclin E (Figures 12B-C). Interestingly, the expression of p21 gene was dramatically up-regulated in response to cepharanthine treatment. This compound at 10 and 20 µM increased p21 mRNA level by approximately 5 and 15 fold of the vehicle control, respectively, (Figure 12D, P<0.048). Similar to cepharanthine, treatment of CaOV-3 cells with cisplatin led to decreased cyclin A mRNA level (P < 0.005) (Figure 12A). Expression of cyclin D, E and p21 genes however, was unaffected by cisplatin (Figures 12B-D). These results suggest that changes in mRNA levels of cyclin A and p21 might be responsible for cepharanthine-induced cell cycle arrest in CaOV-3 cells.





4.6. Effect of cepharanthine on the mRNA levels of cell cycle regulators in OVCAR-3 cells.

The mRNA levels of cell cycle regulators, including cyclins A, E, D and p21 in OVCAR-3 cells was evaluated after treatment with 10, 20 and 40 μ M of cepharanthine, 30 µM of cisplatin or 0.2% DMSO. As illustrated in Figures 13A and C, cepharanthine decreased mRNA levels of cyclins A and E in a concentration-dependent manner. However, a significant reduction in mRNA levels of both cyclins was detected following treatment of the compound at 40 μ M only (P<0.024). The mRNA levels of cyclins A and E were approximately half of those treated with the vehicle control. It should be noted that at this concentration, cepharanthine markedly up-regulated expression cyclin D gene (Figure 13B, P<0.001). The mRNA level of cyclin D was increased more than 6 times that of the vehicle control. In addition to cyclins, treatment with cepharanthine also changed the expression of p21, a CDK inhibitor, dramatically in OVCAR-3 cells (Figure 13D, P<0.004). The expression of p21 gene was increased by more than 10 fold above the Similar to cepharanthine, the p21 mRNA level was vehicle control. significantly up-regulated after treatment with cisplatin (Figure 13D, P<0.017). However, of all cyclins tested, only expression of cyclin D was significantly affected by cisplatin (Figure 13B, P < 0.008). The mRNA level of cyclin D was almost doubled that of the vehicle control. Taken together, these results demonstrated that cepharanthine at high concentrations could downregulate the gene expression of cyclin A and cyclin E and also up-regulate the gene expression of p21 and cyclin D in OVCAR-3 cells.





4.7. Effect of cepharanthine on apoptosis induction in CaOV-3 cells.

Apoptosis is one of the most important mechanism underlying anticancer activity of most chemotherapeutic drugs ⁽⁸⁸⁾. Several studies have demonstrated that cepharanthine could induce apoptotic cell death in various human cancer cells ⁽²²⁻²⁵⁾. Thus, to determine whether anticancer activity of cepharanthine in CaOV-3 cells is mediated through apoptosis induction, the cells were exposed to 5, 10 and 20 μ M of cepharanthine, 10 μM of cisplatin or 0.2% DMSO for 24 h and apoptotic and necrotic cells were monitored using annexin V/PI staining and flow cytometry analysis. As illustrated in Figure 14, 5 μ M of cepharanthine significantly induced CaOV-3 cells to undergo late-apoptosis which was 2 fold higher than the control (P<0.024). It however should be noted that significant necrotic cell death was observed following treatment of CaOV-3 cells with cepharanthine at higher concentrations, 10 and 20 μ M, (P<0.001), compared to the vehicle control. The percentages of cells undergoing necrosis were increased by 10 and 17 times that of the vehicle control after treatment with cepharanthine at 10 and 20 µM, respectively. On the other hand, neither significant apoptotic nor necrotic cell death was detected in CaOV-3 cells following treatment with 10 μ M of cisplatin (Figure 14).



Figure 14 The effect of cepharanthine on apoptotic cell death in CaOV-3 cells. The cells were treated with 5, 10 and 20 μ M of cepharanthine, 10 μ M of cisplatin (positive control) or 0.2% DMSO (vehicle control) for 24 h. The percentages of apoptotic or necrotic cells were evaluated by flow cytometry after annexin V-FITC and PI staining. The results are expressed as mean \pm SEM of three independent experiments. Statistically significant differences compared to the vehicle control (${}^{a}P$ <0.05, ${}^{b}P$ <0.01 and ${}^{c}P$ <0.001).

4.8. Effect of cepharanthine on apoptosis induction in OVCAR-3 cells.

To investigate whether apoptosis induction is responsible for anticancer effect of cepharanthine in OVCAR-3 cells, the cells were treated with 10, 20 and 40 μ M of cepharanthine, 30 μ M of cisplatin or 0.2% DMSO for 48 h and apoptotic as well as necrotic cell death were analyzed using annexin V/PI staining and flow cytometry analysis. As illustrated in Figure 15, treatment with cepharantine at 40 μ M led to a marked decrease in numbers of live cells which was accompanied by significant increases in early and late apoptotic populations. Early and late apoptotic cells were significantly enhanced by 3 and 4 fold above those of the vehicle control, respectively. Flow cytometry analysis also revealed that 30 μ M cisplatin significantly induced OVCAR-3 cells to undergo late apoptosis and necrosis which was in agreement with a significant decrease in living cells approximately 0.7 times that of the vehicle control (Figure 15). These results demonstrated that cepharanthine could effectively induce apoptosis in a chemoresistant ovarian cancer cell line, OVCAR-3.

> จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University



Figure 15 The effect of cepharanthine on apoptotic cell death in OVCAR-3 cells. Cells were treated with 10, 20 and 40 μ M of cepharanthine, 30 μ M of cisplatin (positive control) or 0.2% DMSO (vehicle control) for 48 h. The percentages of live, apoptotic and necrotic populations were evaluated by flow cytometry after staining with annexin V-FITC and PI. The results are expressed as mean ± SEM of three independent experiments. ^bP<0.01 and ^cP<0.001 compared to the vehicle control.

พูพ เถงแระเผพ เรทย เถย

Chulalongkorn University

4.9. Effect of cepharanthine on the mRNA levels of Bcl-2 family members in CaOV-3 cells.

The intrinsic (mitochondrial) pathway of apoptosis is mainly responsible for apoptosis-inducing effect of several chemotherapeutic agents. This pathway is regulated by members of the Bcl-2 family proteins, including proapoptotic proteins such as Bax and Bak and anti-apoptotic proteins such as Bcl-2 and Bcl-xl ^(89, 90). Previous studied reported that cepharanthine could increase the expression of Bax gene in non-small-cell-lung cancer ⁽¹⁰⁾ and myeloma⁽²³⁾ and decreased the mRNA level of Bcl-xl in osteosarcoma cell ⁽²⁵⁾. Therefore, the mRNA levels of Bcl-2 family including pro-apoptotic proteins, Bak and Bax and anti-apoptotic proteins, Bcl-2 and Bcl-xl were evaluated. Cells were incubated with 5, 10 and 20 μ M of cepharanthine, 10 μ M of cisplatin, or 0.2% DMSO for 24 h, and the mRNA levels of apoptosisregulators were determined using real-time RT-PCR. As shown in Figures 16A-D, treatment of CaOV-3 cells with 20 µM of cepharanthine significantly upregulated the gene expression of both tested pro-apoptotic regulators, Bak (P<0.005) and Bax (P<0.002) (Figures 16A and B) and down-regulated the gene expression of anti-apoptotic regulator, Bcl-xl (Figure 16C, P<0.004). Similarly, cisplatin significantly increased mRNA levels of Bak (P < 0.005) and Bax (P<0.044). Moreover, expression of Bcl-2 and Bcl-xl genes were decreased following treatment of the cells with 10 μ M of cisplatin (P<0.001). These results indicated that changes in mRNA levels of Bcl-2 family members, including pro-apoptotic (Bak and Bax) and pro-apoptotic (Bcl-xl), are involved in the cepharanthine-mediated apoptosis in CaOV-3 cells.





4.10. Effect of cepharanthine on the mRNA levels of Bcl-2 family members in OVCAR-3 cells.

The mRNA levels of Bcl-2 family members, including pro-apoptotic (Bak and Bax) and anti-apoptotic (Bcl-2 and Bcl-xl) were analyzed using realtime RT PCR after treatment with cepharanthine (10, 20 and 40 μ M), 30 μ M of cisplatin or 0.2% DMSO for 24 h. The results revealed that cepharanthine at a concentration of 40 μ M significantly up-regulated Bak gene expression by approximately 1.8 fold of the vehicle control (Figure 17A, *P*<0.011). The compound however did not alter the mRNA levels of Bax, Bcl-xl and Bcl-2 (Figures 17B-D). Conversely, treatment of OVCAR-3 cells with cisplatin significantly increased mRNA levels of Bak and Bax but decreased mRNA levels of Bcl-xl and Bcl-2 (Figures 17A-D). Taken together, the results of this study suggest that up- regulation of Bak may be responsible for cepharanthine-mediated apoptosis induction in OVCAR-3 cells.

> จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University



Figure 17 The effect of cepharanthine on the mRNA levels of (A) Bak, (B) Bax, (C) Bclxl, and (D) Bcl-2 in OVCAR-3 cells after treatment with 10, 20 and 40 μ M of cepharanthine, 30 μ M of cisplatin (positive control) or 0.2% DMSO (vehicle control) for 24 h. The mRNA levels were assessed using real-time RT PCR analysis. The values were normalized to GAPDH and revealed as fold changes relative to the vehicle control. Data are presented as means ± SEM of three independent experiments. ^bP<0.01 and ^cP<0.001 compared to the vehicle control.

CHAPTER V DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION

Ovarian cancer is one of the most lethal malignancies in women worldwide. The combination treatment of a platinum-based drug and a taxane remains the first line chemotherapy for ovarian cancer. Although ovarian cancer initially responds to chemotherapy, later patients often develop chemoresistance. It was reported that more than half of ovarian cancer patients receiving platinum/ taxane combination therapy will relapse within 18 months of diagnosis ⁽⁹¹⁾. Additionally, the dose-dependent toxic side effects of most chemotherapeutic agents have also limited their uses in cancer treatment ⁽⁶⁻⁹⁾. Therefore, it is necessary to find novel compounds that have efficient anticancer activity with minimal side effects for ovarian cancer treatment.

Currently, natural compounds have been extensively investigated for use either alone or in combination with conventional chemotherapeutic agents to overcome drug resistance and minimize severe side effects ⁽⁹²⁾. Cepharanthine, a naturally occurring alkaloid, has displayed anticancer activity against various different types of cancer, including leukemia, hepatocellular cholangiocarcinoma, carcinoma, cervical adenocarcinoma, myeloma, osteosarcoma, adenosquamous cell carcinoma and oral squamous cell carcinoma both *in vitro* and *in vivo* ^(18-23, 25, 27, 28). To the best of my knowledge, the anticancer activity of this compound has never been tested in ovarian cancer. Thus, the anticancer effects of cepharanthine have been evaluated in two human ovarian cancer cell lines, CaOV-3 and OVCAR-3 in this study. The OVCAR-3 cells which were derived from a patient refractory to cisplatin and doxorubicin have been classified as

chemoresistant cells while the CAOV-3 cells have been classified as cells. expected, all chemosensitive As three commonly used chemotherapeutic drugs, cisplatin, doxorubicin and oxaliplatin, inhibited the growth of CaOV-3 cells more effective than OVCAR-3 cells. Similarly, cytotoxicity of cepharanthine was found to be higher in CaOV-3 cells than OVCAR-3 cells (Figures 8 and 9). The IC_{50} value of cepharathine in CaOV-3 cells at 48 h incubation ($10.93\pm0.14 \mu$ M) was approximately 3 times lower than the IC₅₀ value of cepharanthine in OVCAR-3 cells (31.20 ± 1.27 µM). Several studies have revealed that mutations in tumor suppressor genes or proto-oncogenes are highly associated with drug resistance in cancer cells ^{(85,} ^{93, 94)}. Katsui et al. demonstrated that the resistance to adriamycin (doxorubicin) in osteosarcoma cells was associated with p53 mutation ⁽²⁹⁾. Similarly, Perego et al. have reported mutation of p53 gene causes the development of cisplatin-resistance in ovarian cancer cells such as OVCAR-3 ⁽⁴¹⁾. Interestingly, recent studies have shown that cepharanthine was more effective in controlling the growth of a p53-mutated colorectal cancer cell line, HT-29, than a p53 wild-type colorectal cancer cell line, COLO-205 ⁽⁸⁰⁾. The results from the present study however illustrated that cepharanthine was more toxic to CaOV-3 cells than to OVCAR-3 cells. Previously, several studies reported that both CaOV-3 and OVCAR-3 ovarian cancer cell lines contain p53 mutation ^(37, 95) but oncogenic mutations in the PI3K/AKT pathway are only detected in OVCAR-3 cells ^(46, 96). Previous study demonstrated that the activation of the PI3K signaling pathway through mutation of PIK3CA or AKT has been found to be involved the resistance to cisplatin in ovarian cancer^(35, 47, 48). In addition to oncogenic pathway, amplification of cell cycle regulators, including cyclin E and cyclin D1, which are associated with chemoresistance, were also found in OVCAR-3 cells ^(37, 97-100). Therefore, it is likely oncogenic mutations, besides p53, are involved in the differences in sensitivity to cepharanthine of CaOV-3 cells and OVCAR-3 cells. It, however, should be noted that cepharanthine exerted more potent anticancer activity than cisplatin in both CAOV-3 and OVCAR-3 cells (Tables 2 and 3), suggesting that cepharanthine has potential to be a novel chemotherapeutic drug for cancer therapy.

Several antineoplastic drugs exhibit their anticancer activities via induction of cell cycle arrest and apoptosis (88). It was reported that cepharanthine could induce cell cycle arrest at G1, S and G2/M phase in myeloma, osteosarcoma, adenosquamous cell carcinoma and oral squamous carcinoma^(23, 25, 27, 28). In this study, treatment of CaOV-3 cells with cepharanthine at 5 µM induced cell cycle arrest at G1 phase while at higher concentrations (10 and 20 μ M) of cepharanthine caused significant accumulation of CaOV-3 cells at sub G1 phase (Figure 10). The results are consistent with other recent finding that high concentration of cepharanthine induced sub-G1 peak in adenosquamous carcinoma TYS cells ⁽²⁷⁾. In contrast to CaOV-3 cells, cepharanthine did not induce cell cycle arrest at any phase of the cell cycle in a chemoresistant cancer cell line, OVCAR- 3. Cepharanthine at the highest concentration tested (40 μ M) induced OVCAR-3 cells to dramatically accumulate at sub-G1 phase (Figure 11). This was in with agreement previous study showing that tetradrine, а bisbenzylisoquinoline alkaloid extracted from the root of the Stephania *tetrandrae*, did not alter cell cycle distribution of OVCAR-3 cells ⁽¹⁰¹⁾. Beaufort et al. previously reported that high-level of cyclin E amplification was detected in OVCAR-3 cells ⁽³⁷⁾ and these cells also overexpressed cyclin D ^{(99,} ¹⁰²⁾. Since both cyclin E and D play important roles in cell cycle progression, it is possible that amplification and/or overexpression of these cell cycle regulators are responsible for resistance to cepharanthine-mediated cell cycle arrest in OVCAR-3 cells.

The cell cycle is controlled by the activation of cyclin-CDKs specific complexes and cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitors (CKIs) ^(67, 69). The present study clearly illustrated that cepharanthine decreased the mRNA level of cyclin A and increased the mRNA level of p21 in CaOV-3 cells in a concentration-dependent manner (Figure 12), suggesting that changes in cyclin A and p21 are associated with cepharanthine-induced cell cycle arrest. It was previously shown that cepharanthine induced TYS cells carrying p53 mutation, to undergo cell cycle arrest by up-regulating of $p21^{WAF1}$ protein ⁽²⁷⁾. Thus, cepharanthine may be able to induce cell cycle arrest in CaOV-3 cells in a p53- independent manner. Although the results from this study demonstrated that cepharanthine did not induce cell cycle arrest in OVCAR-3 cells, real-time PCR analysis indicated that this compound significantly down-regulated mRNA levels of cyclin A and cyclin E and markedly upregulated mRNA levels of cyclin D and p21 in OVCAR-3 cells (Figure 13). It is possible that increase in cyclin D mRNA counteracts with decrease in cyclin A and cyclin E mRNA, making no significant change in cell cycle progression of OVCAR-3 cells. Additionally, previous study reported that activation of oncogenic MEK/MAPK pathway led to p27 deregulation and antiestrogen resistance in human breast cancer cells ⁽¹⁰³⁾. Therefore, mutations in tumor suppressor genes or proto-oncogenes may be related to resistance to cell cycle arrest in OVCAR-3 cells. The results of this study indicated that cepharanthine decreased mRNA levels of cyclin A and cyclin E but increased cyclin D mRNA. The findings are similar to other previous evidence illustrating that suberoylanilide hydroxamic acid markedly down-regulated the expression of cyclin A but up-regulated the expression of cyclin B in breast

cancer cells ⁽¹⁰⁴⁾. Though, the mechanism underlying opposing effect of cepharanthine on mRNA expression of cyclins is still unknown, it is likely that cyclin D up-regulation contributes to resistance of OVCAR-3 cells to cepharantine-mediated cell cycle arrest. Indeed, cyclin D play an important role in controlling cell cycle arrest. It was reported that cyclin D1 degradation is sufficient to induce G1 cell cycle arrest in ovarian cancer cells ⁽¹⁰⁵⁾. Downregulation of cyclin D was also associated with cell cycle arrest in breast cancer cells ⁽¹⁰⁶⁾, osteosarcoma ⁽²⁵⁾, prostate cancer ⁽¹⁰⁷⁾ and colon cancer ⁽¹⁰⁸⁾. Previously, numerous studies reported that cepharanthine down-regulated the expression of cyclin D1, cyclin E and c-Myc as well as up-regulated the expression of CKIs, p21^{WAF1}, p27^{Kip1} and p15^{INK4B}, in several human cancer cells such as myeloma, adenosquamous cell carcinoma, oral squamous cell carcinoma and osteosarcoma cells ^(23, 25, 27, 28). However, one of the most surprising finding of this study is that cepharanthine was able to decrease cyclin A in both human ovarian cancer cells (CaOV-3 and OVCAR-3), suggesting that cyclin A may be a therapeutic target of cepharanthine in human ovarian cancer cells. The mechanism responsible for cepharanthinemediated cyclin A down-regulation still needs further investigation.

Apoptosis is related to anticancer activity of many anticancer drugs ^(70, 71). Similarly, cepharanthine has been reported to inhibit the growth of cancer cells by promoting apoptosis in various human cancer cells such as human adenosquamous cell carcinoma TYS cells ⁽²⁷⁾, human oral squamous cell carcinoma B88 cells ⁽²⁸⁾, human leukemia Jurkat and K562 cells ^(18, 79), human hepatocellular carcinoma HuU-7 cells ⁽²¹⁾, human cervical adenocarcinoma HeLa cells ⁽²²⁾ and human non-small-cell lung cancer A549 and H1299 cells ⁽¹⁰⁾. To the best of my knowledge, this is the first report of cepharanthine-induced apoptosis in ovarian cancer cells. In CaOV-3 cells, treatment with
cepharanthine at the lowest concentration (5 μ M) resulted in late apoptosis whereas necrotic cell death was detected at the higher concentration of cepharanthine (10 and 20 μ M) (Figure 14). In contrast, cepharanthine only at the highest concentration (40 μ M) triggered OVCAR-3 cells to undergo apoptotic cell death at both early- and late-apoptosis (Figure 15). The results from annexin V/PI staining were somewhat different from results in cell cycle analysis using PI staining. This may be due to different methodology used. It was reported that a sub-G1 DNA content, identified by propidium iodide staining, does not distinguish between apoptotic and necrotic cells as well as using annexin V/PI staining ^(109, 110). Cells undergo apoptosis through two major pathways, the extrinsic pathway and the intrinsic pathway. Most chemotherapeutic agents induce cancer cells to undergo intrinsic apoptosis pathway. The intrinsic pathway or mitochondrial pathway is tightly regulated by member of the Bcl-2 family proteins ^(74, 90). Several studies reported that cepharanthine induces apoptosis by induction of Bax and reduction of Bcl-2 and Bcl-xl in many cancer cells ^(10, 22, 23, 25). This study revealed that high concentration of cepharanthine (20 μ M) down-regulated the mRNA level of anti-apoptotic member Bcl-xl and up-regulated the mRNA levels of both proapoptotic members, Bax and Bak, in CaOV-3 cells (Figure 16). Similarly, cepharanthine could induce mRNA level of Bak in OVCAR-3 cells (Figure 17). Taken together, the results from these studies suggest that changes in the expression of Bcl-2 family members are responsible for cepharanthineinduced apoptosis in ovarian cancer cells. Interestingly, cepharanthine at high concentrations increased Bax and Bak, reduced of Bcl-xl, and induced necrotic cell death in CaOV-3 cells. Recent studies demonstrated that programmed necrosis (or necroptosis) is another type of regulated cell death. This cell death modality maintains some apoptotic features but also

possesses necrotic morphology and Bcl-2 family members have been shown to play important roles in necroptosis ^(111, 112). Taken together, it is likely that changes in pro- and anti-apoptotic proteins are associated with necrotic cell death following treatment of CaOV- 3 cells with cepharanthine at high concentrations.

Biswas et al. reported that cepharanthine induced human hepatocellular carcinoma HuH-7 cells death by activation of JNK, which may be up-stream of mitochondrial-associated event, involved in down-regulation of Bcl- 2 expression and up- regulation of Bax expression, leading to cytochrome C release ⁽²¹⁾. Moreover, recent study demonstrated that cepharanthine decreased the expression of anti- apoptotic Bcl- xl gene, resulting in apoptosis through down-regulation of STAT3 protein in human osteosarcoma SaOS2 cells ⁽²⁵⁾. It was also shown that resveratrol induced apoptosis in CaOV-3 and OVCAR-3 cells by down-regulating expression of Bcl- xl, Bcl- 2 or c-myc through STAT3 signaling pathway ⁽¹¹³⁾. Therefore, it is possible that the growth inhibitory and apoptosis inducing effects of cepharanthine in human ovarian cancer cells may be mediated through inhibition of oncogenic signaling pathways. However, the effects of cepharanthine on STAT3 and JNK signaling pathways require further investigation.

Additionally, several studies have reported a significant benefit effect of this alkaloid in reversing multi-drug resistance (MDR) by down-regulating the expression of drug efflux transporters such as P-gp and multidrug resistance protein-7 (MRP-7) in human leukemia cell lines and human embryonic kidney cell lines ^(77, 78). MDR is one of the main causes of treatment failure in ovarian cancer. Recent study demonstrated that cepharanthine reversed docetaxel resistance in a taxane-resistant ovarian cancer cell line (HeyA8-MDR) both *in vitro* and *in vivo*, illustrating the benefit effect of cepharanthine when used in combination with other drugs. Therefore, in the consideration of its high anticancer activity and safety profile, cepharanthine is a promising compound to be used either as a single agent or in combination with other chemotherapeutic drugs for ovarian cancer treatment. Further investigation of anticancer activities of cepharanthine in human ovarian cancer cells both *in vitro* and *in vivo* are clearly warranted.

Conclusion

This is the first study to investigate the anticancer effects of cepharanthine in human ovarian cancer cells. The results clearly demonstrated that cepharanthine possesses potent anticancer activity against two human ovarian cancer cell lines. Mechanistic studies revealed that cepharanthine potentially induced cell cycle arrest and apoptosis which may be mediated via modulation of mRNA levels of cell cycle regulators, cyclin A and p21 and Bcl- 2 family members, Bcl- xl, Bax and Bak, in chemosensitive CaOV-3 cells. In chemoresistant OVCAR-3 cells, induction of apoptosis which may be associated through up-regulation of Bak gene is mainly responsible for anticancer activity of cepharanthine. These finding suggest that cepharanthine could potentially be used as a novel anticancer drug for ovarian cancer which are frequency resistant to commonly used chemotherapeutic drug.

REFERENCES



จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

REFERENCES

- 1. Torre LA, Bray F, Siegel RL, Ferlay J, Lortet-Tieulent J, Jemal A. Global cancer statistics, 2012. CA: a cancer journal for clinicians. 2015;65(2):87-108.
- 2. Siegel R, Naishadham D, Jemal A. Cancer statistics, 2013. CA: a cancer journal for clinicians. 2013;63(1):11-30.
- 3. Hennessy BT, Coleman RL, Markman M. Ovarian cancer. Lancet (London, England). 2009;374(9698):1371-82.
- 4. Zahedi P, Yoganathan R, Piquette-Miller M, Allen C. Recent advances in drug delivery strategies for treatment of ovarian cancer. Expert opinion on drug delivery. 2012;9(5):567-83.
- 5. Thigpen JT, Aghajanian CA, Alberts DS, Campos SM, Gordon AN, Markman M, et al. Role of pegylated liposomal doxorubicin in ovarian cancer. Gynecologic oncology. 2005;96(1):10-8.
- Xiao WH, Bennett GJ. Effects of mitochondrial poisons on the neuropathic pain produced by the chemotherapeutic agents, paclitaxel and oxaliplatin. Pain. 2012;153(3):704-9.
- Donzelli E, Carfi M, Miloso M, Strada A, Galbiati S, Bayssas M, et al. Neurotoxicity of platinum compounds: comparison of the effects of cisplatin and oxaliplatin on the human neuroblastoma cell line SH-SY5Y. Journal of neuro-oncology. 2004;67(1-2):65-73.
- 8. Puchkova LV, Skvortsov AN, Rusconi P, Ilyechova EY, Broggini M. In vivo effect of copper status on cisplatin- induced nephrotoxicity. Biometals : an international journal on the role of metal ions in biology, biochemistry, and medicine. 2016.
- Dogan S, Yazici H, Yalcinkaya E, Erdogdu HI, Tokgoz SA, Sarici F, et al. Protective Effect of Selenium Against Cisplatin-Induced Ototoxicity in an Experiemental Model. The Journal of craniofacial surgery. 2016.
- 10. Hua P, Sun M, Zhang G, Zhang Y, Tian X, Li X, et al. Cepharanthine induces apoptosis through reactive oxygen species and mitochondrial dysfunction in

human non-small-cell lung cancer cells. Biochemical and biophysical research communications. 2015;460(2):136-42.

- Rogosnitzky M, Danks R. Therapeutic potential of the biscoclaurine alkaloid, cepharanthine, for a range of clinical conditions. Pharmacological reports : PR. 2011;63(2):337-47.
- 12. Sato T, Ohnishi ST. In vitro anti-sickling effect on cepharanthine. European journal of pharmacology. 1982;83(1-2):91-5.
- Desgrouas C, Dormoi J, Chapus C, Ollivier E, Parzy D, Taudon N. In vitro and in vivo combination of cepharanthine with anti-malarial drugs. Malaria journal. 2014;13:90.
- Gulcin I, Elias R, Gepdiremen A, Chea A, Topal F. Antioxidant activity of bisbenzylisoquinoline alkaloids from Stephania rotunda: cepharanthine and fangchinoline. Journal of enzyme inhibition and medicinal chemistry. 2010;25(1):44-53.
- 15. Kohno H, Inoue H, Seyama Y, Yamashita S, Akasu M. [Mode of the anti-allergic action of cepharanthine on an experimental model of allergic rhinitis]. Nihon yakurigaku zasshi Folia pharmacologica Japonica. 1987;90(4):205-11.
- 16. Kao MC, Yang CH, Sheu JR, Huang CJ. Cepharanthine mitigates pro-inflammatory cytokine response in lung injury induced by hemorrhagic shock/resuscitation in rats. Cytokine. 2015;76(2):442-8.
- 17. Huang H, Hu G, Wang C, Xu H, Chen X, Qian A. Cepharanthine, an alkaloid from Stephania cepharantha Hayata, inhibits the inflammatory response in the RAW264.7 cell and mouse models. Inflammation. 2014;37(1):235-46.
- 18. Wu J, Suzuki H, Akhand AA, Zhou YW, Hossain K, Nakashima I. Modes of activation of mitogen-activated protein kinases and their roles in cepharanthineinduced apoptosis in human leukemia cells. Cellular signalling. 2002;14(6):509-15.
- Seubwai W, Vaeteewoottacharn K, Hiyoshi M, Suzu S, Puapairoj A, Wongkham C, et al. Cepharanthine exerts antitumor activity on cholangiocarcinoma by inhibiting NF-kappaB. Cancer science. 2010;101(7):1590-5.

- 20. Uthaisar K, Seubwai W, Srikoon P, Vaeteewoottacharn K, Sawanyawisuth K, Okada S, et al. Cepharanthine suppresses metastatic potential of human cholangiocarcinoma cell lines. Asian Pacific journal of cancer prevention : APJCP. 2012;13 Suppl:149-54.
- 21. Biswas KK, Tancharoen S, Sarker KP, Kawahara K, Hashiguchi T, Maruyama I. Cepharanthine triggers apoptosis in a human hepatocellular carcinoma cell line (HuH-7) through the activation of JNK1/2 and the downregulation of Akt. FEBS letters. 2006;580(2):703-10.
- 22. Fang ZH, Li YJ, Chen Z, Wang JJ, Zhu LH. Inhibition of signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 and cyclooxygenase- 2 is involved in radiosensitization of cepharanthine in HeLa cells. International journal of gynecological cancer : official journal of the International Gynecological Cancer Society. 2013;23(4):608-14.
- 23. Kikukawa Y, Okuno Y, Tatetsu H, Nakamura M, Harada N, Ueno S, et al. Induction of cell cycle arrest and apoptosis in myeloma cells by cepharanthine, a biscoclaurine alkaloid. International journal of oncology. 2008;33(4):807-14.
- 24. Law BY, Chan WK, Xu SW, Wang JR, Bai LP, Liu L, et al. Natural small-molecule enhancers of autophagy induce autophagic cell death in apoptosis-defective cells. Scientific reports. 2014;4:5510.
- 25. Chen Z, Huang C, Yang YL, Ding Y, Ou-Yang HQ, Zhang YY, et al. Inhibition of the STAT3 signaling pathway is involved in the antitumor activity of cepharanthine in SaOS2 cells. Acta pharmacologica Sinica. 2012;33(1):101-8.
- 26. Takahashi-Makise N, Suzu S, Hiyoshi M, Ohsugi T, Katano H, Umezawa K, et al. Biscoclaurine alkaloid cepharanthine inhibits the growth of primary effusion lymphoma in vitro and in vivo and induces apoptosis via suppression of the NF-kappaB pathway. International journal of cancer Journal international du cancer. 2009;125(6):1464-72.
- 27. Harada K, Bando T, Yoshida H, Sato M. Characteristics of antitumour activity of cepharanthin against a human adenosquamous cell carcinoma cell line. Oral oncology. 2001;37(8):643-51.

- 28. Harada K, Supriatno, Yamamoto S, Kawaguchi S, Yoshida H, Sato M. Cepharanthine exerts antitumor activity on oral squamous cell carcinoma cell lines by induction of p27Kip1. Anticancer research. 2003;23(2b):1441-8.
- 29. Katsui K, Kuroda M, Wang Y, Komatsu M, Himei K, Takemoto M, et al. Cepharanthin enhances adriamycin sensitivity by synergistically accelerating apoptosis for adriamycin- resistant osteosarcoma cell lines, SaOS2-AR and SaOS2 F-AR. International journal of oncology. 2004;25(1):47-56.
- 30. Ikeda R, Che XF, Yamaguchi T, Ushiyama M, Zheng CL, Okumura H, et al. Cepharanthine potently enhances the sensitivity of anticancer agents in K562 cells. Cancer science. 2005;96(6):372-6.
- 31. Romero I, Bast RC, Jr. Minireview: human ovarian cancer: biology, current management, and paths to personalizing therapy. Endocrinology. 2012;153(4):1593-602.
- 32. Jayson GC, Kohn EC, Kitchener HC, Ledermann JA. Ovarian cancer. Lancet (London, England). 2014;384(9951):1376-88.
- 33. Mutch DG, Prat J. 2014 FIGO staging for ovarian, fallopian tube and peritoneal cancer. Gynecologic oncology. 2014;133(3):401-4.
- 34. Holschneider CH, Berek JS. Ovarian cancer: epidemiology, biology, and prognostic factors. Seminars in surgical oncology. 2000;19(1):3-10.
- 35. Banerjee S, Kaye SB. New strategies in the treatment of ovarian cancer: current clinical perspectives and future potential. Clinical cancer research : an official journal of the American Association for Cancer Research. 2013;19(5):961-8.
- 36. McGowan L, Norris HJ, Hartge P, Hoover R, Lesher L. Risk factors in ovarian cancer. European journal of gynaecological oncology. 1988;9(3):195-9.
- Beaufort CM, Helmijr JC, Piskorz AM, Hoogstraat M, Ruigrok-Ritstier K, Besselink N, et al. Ovarian cancer cell line panel (OCCP): clinical importance of in vitro morphological subtypes. PloS one. 2014;9(9):e103988.
- Integrated genomic analyses of ovarian carcinoma. Nature. 2011;474(7353):609-15.
- 39. Schuijer M, Berns EM. TP53 and ovarian cancer. Human mutation. 2003;21(3):285-91.

- 40. Lee JG, Ahn JH, Jin Kim T, Ho Lee J, Choi JH. Mutant p53 promotes ovarian cancer cell adhesion to mesothelial cells via integrin beta4 and Akt signals. Scientific reports. 2015;5:12642.
- 41. Perego P, Giarola M, Righetti SC, Supino R, Caserini C, Delia D, et al. Association between cisplatin resistance and mutation of p53 gene and reduced bax expression in ovarian carcinoma cell systems. Cancer research. 1996;56(3):556-62.
- 42. Fraser M, Leung BM, Yan X, Dan HC, Cheng JQ, Tsang BK. p53 is a determinant of X-linked inhibitor of apoptosis protein/Akt-mediated chemoresistance in human ovarian cancer cells. Cancer research. 2003;63(21):7081-8.
- Shayesteh L, Lu Y, Kuo WL, Baldocchi R, Godfrey T, Collins C, et al. PIK3CA is implicated as an oncogene in ovarian cancer. Nature genetics. 1999;21(1):99-102.
- 44. Campbell IG, Russell SE, Choong DY, Montgomery KG, Ciavarella ML, Hooi CS, et al. Mutation of the PIK3CA gene in ovarian and breast cancer. Cancer research. 2004;64(21):7678-81.
- 45. Cheaib B, Auguste A, Leary A. The PI3K/Akt/mTOR pathway in ovarian cancer: therapeutic opportunities and challenges. Chinese journal of cancer. 2015;34(1):4-16.
- 46. Dobbin ZC, Landen CN. The importance of the PI3K/AKT/MTOR pathway in the progression of ovarian cancer. International journal of molecular sciences. 2013;14(4):8213-27.
- 47. Carden CP, Stewart A, Thavasu P, Kipps E, Pope L, Crespo M, et al. The association of PI3 kinase signaling and chemoresistance in advanced ovarian cancer. Molecular cancer therapeutics. 2012;11(7):1609-17.
- 48. Yap TA, Carden CP, Kaye SB. Beyond chemotherapy: targeted therapies in ovarian cancer. Nature reviews Cancer. 2009;9(3):167-81.
- 49. Agarwal R, Kaye SB. Ovarian cancer: strategies for overcoming resistance to chemotherapy. Nature reviews Cancer. 2003;3(7):502-16.
- 50. Siddik ZH. Cisplatin: mode of cytotoxic action and molecular basis of resistance. Oncogene. 2003;22(47):7265-79.

- 51. A'Hern RP, Gore ME. Impact of doxorubicin on survival in advanced ovarian cancer. Journal of clinical oncology : official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology. 1995;13(3):726-32.
- 52. Campos SM, Penson RT, Mays AR, Berkowitz RS, Fuller AF, Goodman A, et al. The clinical utility of liposomal doxorubicin in recurrent ovarian cancer. Gynecologic oncology. 2001;81(2):206-12.
- 53. Wang D, Lippard SJ. Cellular processing of platinum anticancer drugs. Nature reviews Drug discovery. 2005;4(4):307-20.
- 54. Wong E, Giandomenico CM. Current status of platinum-based antitumor drugs. Chemical reviews. 1999;99(9):2451-66.
- 55. Bogliolo S, Cassani C, Gardella B, Musacchi V, Babilonti L, Venturini PL, et al. Oxaliplatin for the treatment of ovarian cancer. Expert opinion on investigational drugs. 2015;24(9):1275-86.
- 56. Dasari S, Tchounwou PB. Cisplatin in cancer therapy: molecular mechanisms of action. European journal of pharmacology. 2014;740:364-78.
- 57. Madias NE, Harrington JT. Platinum nephrotoxicity. The American journal of medicine. 1978;65(2):307-14.
- 58. Amptoulach S, Tsavaris N. Neurotoxicity caused by the treatment with platinum analogues. Chemotherapy research and practice. 2011;2011:843019.
- 59. Brunton LL. Goodman & Gilman's the pharmacological basis of therapeutics: McGraw-Hill Medical New York; 2011.
- 60. Carr C, Ng J, Wigmore T. The side effects of chemotherapeutic agents. Current Anaesthesia & Critical Care. 2008;19(2):70-9.
- 61. Hortobagyi GN. Anthracyclines in the treatment of cancer. An overview. Drugs. 1997;54 Suppl 4:1-7.
- 62. Muggia FM, Hainsworth JD, Jeffers S, Miller P, Groshen S, Tan M, et al. Phase II study of liposomal doxorubicin in refractory ovarian cancer: antitumor activity and toxicity modification by liposomal encapsulation. Journal of clinical oncology : official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology. 1997;15(3):987-93.

- 63. Gordon AN, Granai CO, Rose PG, Hainsworth J, Lopez A, Weissman C, et al. Phase II study of liposomal doxorubicin in platinum- and paclitaxel- refractory epithelial ovarian cancer. Journal of clinical oncology : official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology. 2000;18(17):3093-100.
- 64. Thorn CF, Oshiro C, Marsh S, Hernandez-Boussard T, McLeod H, Klein TE, et al.
 Doxorubicin pathways: pharmacodynamics and adverse effects.
 Pharmacogenetics and genomics. 2011;21(7):440-6.
- 65. Nitiss JL. Targeting DNA topoisomerase II in cancer chemotherapy. Nature reviews Cancer. 2009;9(5):338-50.
- 66. Dehay C, Kennedy H. Cell-cycle control and cortical development. Nature reviews Neuroscience. 2007;8(6):438-50.
- 67. Israels ED, Israels LG. The cell cycle. The oncologist. 2000;5(6):510-3.
- 68. Orford KW, Scadden DT. Deconstructing stem cell self-renewal: genetic insights into cell-cycle regulation. Nature reviews Genetics. 2008;9(2):115-28.
- 69. Park MT, Lee SJ. Cell cycle and cancer. Journal of biochemistry and molecular biology. 2003;36(1):60-5.
- Wilkins RC, Kutzner BC, Truong M, Sanchez-Dardon J, McLean JR. Analysis of radiation- induced apoptosis in human lymphocytes: flow cytometry using Annexin V and propidium iodide versus the neutral comet assay. Cytometry. 2002;48(1):14-9.
- 71. Lange TS, McCourt C, Singh RK, Kim KK, Singh AP, Luisi BS, et al. Apoptotic and chemotherapeutic properties of iron (III)-salophene in an ovarian cancer animal model. Drug design, development and therapy. 2009;3:17-26.
- 72. Fulda S, Debatin KM. Extrinsic versus intrinsic apoptosis pathways in anticancer chemotherapy. Oncogene. 0000;25(34):4798-811.
- 73. Alberts B JA, Lewis J, et al. Molecular Biology of the Cell. Fourth ed. New York: Garland Science; 2002.
- 74. Youle RJ, Strasser A. The BCL-2 protein family: opposing activities that mediate cell death. Nature reviews Molecular cell biology. 2008;9(1):47-59.

- 75. Hashizume T, Yamaguchi H, Sato T, Fujii T. Suppressive effect of biscoclaurine alkaloids on agonist-induced activation of phospholipase A2 in rabbit platelets.
 Biochemical pharmacology. 1991;41(3):419-23.
- 76. Kometani M, Kanaho Y, Sato T, Fujii T. Inhibitory effect of cepharanthine on collagen- induced activation in rabbit platelets. European journal of pharmacology. 1985;111(1):97-105.
- 77. Zhou Y, Hopper-Borge E, Shen T, Huang XC, Shi Z, Kuang YH, et al. Cepharanthine is a potent reversal agent for MRP7(ABCC10)-mediated multidrug resistance. Biochemical pharmacology. 2009;77(6):993-1001.
- 78. Han L, Wang Y, Guo X, Zhou Y, Zhang J, Wang N, et al. Downregulation of MDR1 gene by cepharanthine hydrochloride is related to the activation of c-Jun/JNK in K562/ADR cells. BioMed research international. 2014;2014:164391.
- 79. Wu J, Suzuki H, Zhou YW, Liu W, Yoshihara M, Kato M, et al. Cepharanthine activates caspases and induces apoptosis in Jurkat and K562 human leukemia cell lines. Journal of cellular biochemistry. 2001;82(2):200-14.
- 80. Rattanawong A, Limpanasithikul DW, Wonganan DP. Anticancer Effects of Cepharanthine on Human Colon Cancer Cells. 34th The National Graduate Research Conference. 2015:1336-45.
- Zahedi P, De Souza R, Huynh L, Piquette-Miller M, Allen C. Combination drug delivery strategy for the treatment of multidrug resistant ovarian cancer. Molecular pharmaceutics. 2011;8(1):260-9.
- Makidono R, Makidono A, Matsuura K. [Leukopenia and lymphopenia during the radiation therapy and their recovery by anti-leukopenia drugs (author's transl)].
 Nihon Igaku Hoshasen Gakkai zasshi Nippon acta radiologica. 1977;37(12):1153-67.
- Pozarowski P, Darzynkiewicz Z. Analysis of cell cycle by flow cytometry. Methods in molecular biology (Clifton, NJ). 2004;281:301-11.
- Rieger AM, Nelson KL, Konowalchuk JD, Barreda DR. Modified annexin V/ propidium iodide apoptosis assay for accurate assessment of cell death. Journal of visualized experiments : JoVE. 2011(50).

- Liu X, Gao Y, Lu Y, Zhang J, Li L, Yin F. Oncogenes associated with drug resistance in ovarian cancer. Journal of cancer research and clinical oncology. 2015;141(3):381-95.
- Vermeulen K, Van Bockstaele DR, Berneman ZN. The cell cycle: a review of regulation, deregulation and therapeutic targets in cancer. Cell proliferation. 2003;36(3):131-49.
- 87. Johnson DG, Walker CL. Cyclins and cell cycle checkpoints. Annual review of pharmacology and toxicology. 1999;39:295-312.
- 88. King KL, Cidlowski JA. Cell cycle regulation and apoptosis. Annual review of physiology. 1998;60:601-17.
- 89. Ouyang L, Shi Z, Zhao S, Wang FT, Zhou TT, Liu B, et al. Programmed cell death pathways in cancer: a review of apoptosis, autophagy and programmed necrosis. Cell proliferation. 2012;45(6):487-98.
- 90. Brunelle JK, Letai A. Control of mitochondrial apoptosis by the Bcl-2 family. Journal of cell science. 2009;122(Pt 4):437-41.
- 91. Holmes D. The problem with platinum. Nature. 2015;527(7579):S218-9.
- 92. Li L, Leung PS. Use of herbal medicines and natural products: an alternative approach to overcoming the apoptotic resistance of pancreatic cancer. The international journal of biochemistry & cell biology. 2014;53:224-36.
- 93. Yin F, Liu X, Li D, Wang Q, Zhang W, Li L. Tumor suppressor genes associated with drug resistance in ovarian cancer (review). Oncology reports. 2013;30(1):3-10.
- 94. Lai D, Visser-Grieve S, Yang X. Tumour suppressor genes in chemotherapeutic drug response. Bioscience reports. 2012;32(4):361-74.
- 95. Yaginuma Y, Westphal H. Abnormal structure and expression of the p53 gene in human ovarian carcinoma cell lines. Cancer research. 1992;52(15):4196-9.
- 96. Carnero A, Paramio JM. The PTEN/PI3K/AKT Pathway in vivo, Cancer Mouse Models. Frontiers in oncology. 2014;4:252.
- 97. Kanska J, Zakhour M, Taylor-Harding B, Karlan BY, Wiedemeyer WR. Cyclin E as a potential therapeutic target in high grade serous ovarian cancer. Gynecologic oncology. 2016;143(1):152-8.

- 98. Nakayama N, Nakayama K, Shamima Y, Ishikawa M, Katagiri A, Iida K, et al. Gene amplification CCNE1 is related to poor survival and potential therapeutic target in ovarian cancer. Cancer. 2010;116(11):2621-34.
- 99. Hashimoto T, Yanaihara N, Okamoto A, Nikaido T, Saito M, Takakura S, et al. Cyclin D1 predicts the prognosis of advanced serous ovarian cancer. Experimental and therapeutic medicine. 2011;2(2):213-9.
- 100. Barbieri F, Lorenzi P, Ragni N, Schettini G, Bruzzo C, Pedulla F, et al. Overexpression of cyclin D1 is associated with poor survival in epithelial ovarian cancer. Oncology. 2004;66(4):310-5.
- 101. Zhang Y, Wang C, Wang H, Wang K, Du Y, Zhang J. Combination of Tetrandrine with cisplatin enhances cytotoxicity through growth suppression and apoptosis in ovarian cancer in vitro and in vivo. Cancer letters. 2011;304(1):21-32.
- 102. Hung WC, Chai CY, Huang JS, Chuang LY. Expression of cyclin D1 and c-Ki-ras gene product in human epithelial ovarian tumors. Human pathology. 1996;27(12):1324-8.
- 103. Donovan JC, Milic A, Slingerland JM. Constitutive MEK/MAPK activation leads to p27(Kip1) deregulation and antiestrogen resistance in human breast cancer cells. The Journal of biological chemistry. 2001;276(44):40888-95.
- 104. Lee YJ, Won AJ, Lee J, Jung JH, Yoon S, Lee BM, et al. Molecular mechanism of SAHA on regulation of autophagic cell death in tamoxifen-resistant MCF-7 breast cancer cells. International journal of medical sciences. 2012;9(10):881-93.
- 105. Masamha CP, Benbrook DM. Cyclin D1 degradation is sufficient to induce G1 cell cycle arrest despite constitutive expression of cyclin E2 in ovarian cancer cells. Cancer research. 2009;69(16):6565-72.
- 106. Rezaei PF, Fouladdel S, Ghaffari SM, Amin G, Azizi E. Induction of G1 cell cycle arrest and cyclin D1 down-regulation in response to pericarp extract of Baneh in human breast cancer T47D cells. Daru : journal of Faculty of Pharmacy, Tehran University of Medical Sciences. 2012;20(1):101.
- 107. Deep G, Singh RP, Agarwal C, Kroll DJ, Agarwal R. Silymarin and silibinin cause G1 and G2-M cell cycle arrest via distinct circuitries in human prostate cancer

PC3 cells: a comparison of flavanone silibinin with flavanolignan mixture silymarin. Oncogene. 2005;25(7):1053-69.

- 108. Shen G, Xu C, Chen C, Hebbar V, Kong AN. p53-independent G1 cell cycle arrest of human colon carcinoma cells HT-29 by sulforaphane is associated with induction of p21CIP1 and inhibition of expression of cyclin D1. Cancer chemotherapy and pharmacology. 2006;57(3):317-27.
- Mattes MJ. Apoptosis assays with lymphoma cell lines: problems and pitfalls.
 British journal of cancer. 2007;96(6):928-36.
- 110. Jazirehi AR, Gan XH, De Vos S, Emmanouilides C, Bonavida B. Rituximab (anti-CD20) selectively modifies Bcl-xL and apoptosis protease activating factor-1 (Apaf-1) expression and sensitizes human non-Hodgkin's lymphoma B cell lines to paclitaxel- induced apoptosis. Molecular cancer therapeutics. 2003;2(11):1183-93.
- 111. Radogna F, Dicato M, Diederich M. Cancer-type-specific crosstalk between autophagy, necroptosis and apoptosis as a pharmacological target. Biochemical pharmacology. 2015;94(1):1-11.
- 112. Karch J, Kanisicak O, Brody MJ, Sargent MA, Michael DM, Molkentin JD. Necroptosis Interfaces with MOMP and the MPTP in Mediating Cell Death. PloS one. 2015;10(6):e0130520.
- 113. Zhong LX, Li H, Wu ML, Liu XY, Zhong MJ, Chen XY, et al. Inhibition of STAT3 signaling as critical molecular event in resveratrol-suppressed ovarian cancer cells. Journal of ovarian research. 2015;8:25.



APPENDIX A RESULTS

Appendix A-1: The cytograms of cell cycle distribution in chemosensitive ovarian cancer cells (CaOV-3) after treatment with 5, 10 and 20 μ M of cepharanthine, 10 μ M of cisplatin (positive control), 0.2% DMSO (vehicle control) or DMEM (untreated control) for 24 h.



Appendix A-2: Distribution of CaOV-3 cells in each phase of cell cycle after treatment with various concentrations of cepharanthine (CEP) or 10 μ M of cisplatin for 24 h.

Traatmaanta	Cell population (%)			
reatments	Sub-G1	G1 phase	S phase	G2/M phase
Untreated	8.14±1.72	52.47±0.12	17.60±0.24	22.21±1.24
0.2% DMSO	6.04±0.70	52.65±3.44	17.03±0.70	24.53±3.40
CEP 5 μΜ	8.15±0.72	64.10±0.66	11.34±0.51	16.53±0.74
CEP 10 µM	24.07±1.66	47.03±3.31	9.30±1.31	19.80±1.58
CEP 20 µM	54.61±2.29	21.78±0.21	10.51±0.57	13.40±1.90
Cisplatin 10 µM	11.30±1.31	40.53±0.48	27.25±0.96	21.56±1.21

Data represent means ± SEM from three independent experiments.

Appendix A-3: The cytograms of cell cycle distribution in chemoresistant ovarian cancer cells (OVCAR-3) after treatment with 10, 20 and 40 μ M of cepharanthine, 30 μ M of cisplatin (positive control), 0.2% DMSO (vehicle control), or RPMI (untreated control) for 48 h.



Appendix A-4: Distribution OVCAR-3 cells in each phase of cell cycle after treatment with various concentrations of cepharanthine (CEP) or 30 μ M of cisplatin for 48 h.

Treatments	Cell population (%)			
reatments	Sub-G1	G1 phase	S phase	G2/M phase
Untreated	7.32±1.57	47.88±4.24	17.29±1.17	27.71±3.99
0.2% DMSO	8.12±0.65	48.95±4.73	16.03±1.07	26.17±3.50
CEP 10 µM	11.33±2.81	48.54±3.91	16.61±0.66	23.24±2.18
CEP 20 µM	17.36±5.21	46.34±3.31	15.13±2.18	20.01±1.43
CEP 40 µM	27.11±6.28	41.04±5.27	11.76±1.31	18.02±2.96
Cisplatin 30 µM	29.95±7.14	40.96±2.85	11.03±1.30	18.32±5.80

Data represent means \pm SEM from three independent experiments.

Appendix A-5: The cytograms of apoptotic and necrotic cell death in CaOV-3 cells after treatment with cepharanthine (5, 10 and 20 μ M), 10 μ M of cisplatin (positive control), 0.2% DMSO (vehicle control) or DMEM (untreated control) for 24 h.



Appendix A- 6: The percentages of apoptotic and necrotic cells after treatment of CaOV-3 cells with various concentrations of cepharanthine (CEP) or 10 μ M of cisplatin for 24 h.

Tractmonte	Cell population (%)			
rreatments	Alive	Early-	Late-	Necrosis
		apoptosis	apoptosis	
Untreated	75.75±5.01	10.28±4.75	10.79±3.92	3.19±0.51
0.2% DMSO	84.52±3.29	7.65±2.03	4.49±1.99	3.34±2.05
CEP 5 μΜ	80.68±2.62	6.12±1.65	8.98±0.94	4.23±0.41
CEP 10 μM	66.70±5.93	1.17±0.47	3.06±1.16	29.27±6.74
СЕР 20 μМ	47.18±3.78	0.42±0.15	1.85±0.56	50.54±3.09
Cisplatin 10 µM	82.28±2.10	6.29±2.50	5.99±0.75	5.44±0.93

Data represent means \pm SEM from three independent experiments.

Appendix A-7: The cytograms of apoptotic and necrotic cell death of in OVCAR-3 after treatment with cepharanthine (10, 20 and 40 μ M), 30 μ M of cisplatin (positive control), 0.2% DMSO (vehicle control), or RPMI (untreated control) for 48 h.



Appendix A-8: The percentages of apoptotic and necrotic cells after treatment of OVCAR-3 cells with various concentrations of cepharanthine (CEP) or 30 μ M cisplatin for 48 h.

Treatments	Cell population (%)			
reatments	Alive	Early-	Late-	Necrosis
		apoptosis	apoptosis	
Untreated	90.15±2.34	3.13±1.10	3.00±0.60	3.73±1.07
0.2% DMSO	88.21±2.48	3.81±1.63	4.45±1.66	3.53±0.83
CEP 10 µM	81.97±3.65	5.86±1.90	7.13±1.59	5.05±1.33
CEP 20 μM	79.54±3.41	8.42±1.86	8.60±1.74	3.44±0.87
CEP 40 µM	64.04±4.51	12.79±0.77	13.39±2.09	9.78±3.20
Cisplatin 30 μM	61.73±1.24	7.63±1.24	14.25±0.95	16.38±2.43

Data represent means \pm SEM from three independent experiments.



APPENDIX B

PREPARATION OF REAGENTS

Incomplete DMEM medium stock solution (1 L)

• •	
Sodium bicarbonate (NaHCO ₃) 3.	7 g
ddH ₂ O 90)0 ml

Mix and stir until dissolve

Adjust the pH to 7.1-7.2 using 1N NaOH or 1N HCl while stirring

Adjust final volume to 1 L with ddH₂O

Sterilize medium by filtering through a 0.2 sterile membrane filter

Transfer into sterile cell culture bottle and keep at 4°C in the refrigerator

Complete DMEM medium (100 ml)	
Incomplete DMEM medium	89 ml
Heat-inactivated fetal bovine serum (FBS)	10 ml
100 U/ml penicillin and 100 µg/ml streptomycin	1 ml

Incomplete RPMI-1640 medium stock solution (1 L)

RPMI powder (1 pack)	10.4 g
Sodium bicarbonate (NaHCO ₃)	1.5 g
Glucose	4.5 g
Sodium pyruvate	0.11 g
1M HEPES	10 ml
ddH ₂ O	900 ml

Mix and stir until dissolve

Adjust the pH to 7.1-7.2 using 1N NaOH or 1N HCl while stirring

Adjust final volume to 1 L with ddH₂O

Sterilize medium by filtering through a 0.2 sterile membrane filter

Transfer into sterile cell culture bottle and keep at 4°C in the refrigerator

Complete RPMI-1640 medium (100 ml)

Incomplete RPMI-1640 medium	79 ml
Heat-inactivated fetal bovine serum (FBS)	20 ml
100 U/ml penicillin and 100 µg/ml streptomycin	1 ml

1X Phosphate Buffered Saline (PBS) (1 L)

Potassium chloride (KCl)	0.2 g
Sodium chloride (NaCl)	8 g
Potassium dihydrogenphosphate (KH ₂ PO ₄)	0.24 g
Sodium dihydrogenphosphate (Na ₂ HPO ₄)	1.44 g
ddH ₂ O	900 ml

Mix and stir until dissolve

Adjust the pH to 7.4 with 1N NaOH or 1N HCl while stirring

Adjust fina	l volume to	o 1 L wit	h ddH ₂ O
-------------	-------------	-----------	----------------------

Transfer into cell culture bottle and sterilize by autoclaving

Store at room temperature

1X Assay Buffer (100 ml)

1M HEPES	1 ml
0.1 M Calcium chloride (CaCl ₂)	2.8 ml
5M Sodium chloride (NaCl)	2.5 ml
ddH ₂ O	90 ml

Mix and stir until dissolve

Adjust final volume to 100 ml with ddH_2O

Transfer into bottle and keep at 4°C in the refrigerator

VITA

Miss. Vilawan Payon was born on March 15, 1989 in Chonburi, Thailand. In 2010, she received Bachelor degree of Biochemistry, from Burapha University. After graduation, she worked as a quality control technician at Krungthai Food Public Co, Ltd. from 2011 to 2014. In 2015, she entered the Master's degree program in Pharmacology at the Graduate School, Chulalongkorn University.



จุฬาลงกรณมหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University



จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University